
CITY COUNCIL MEETING
MUNICIPAL COMPLEX, EILEEN DONDERO FOLEY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, PORTSMOUTH, NH 
DATE: MONDAY, MARCH 3, 2025                      TIME: 7:00PM 

Members of the public also have the option to join the meeting over Zoom, a unique meeting 
ID and password will be provided once you register. To register, click on the link below or 
copy and paste this into your web browser 
https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_yQXXXNrATjWNNz3bA3Cvaw 

AGENDA 
I. WORK SESSION
II. PUBLIC DIALOGUE SESSION [when applicable – every other regularly scheduled 

meeting]
III. CALL TO ORDER [7:00 p.m. or thereafter]
IV. ROLL CALL
V. INVOCATION

VI. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

MAYOR’S AWARD

1. Portsmouth High School Boys Alpine Ski Team Wins Second Straight Division I State 
Championship

VII. ACCEPTANCE OF MINUTES – JANUARY 21, 2025; AND FEBRUARY 3, 2025

VIII. RECOGNITIONS AND VOLUNTEER COMMITTEE REPORTS

1. *Unveiling of the Artwork Entitled “Salt Piles” by Carl Austin Hyatt

IX. PUBLIC COMMENT SESSION (This session shall not exceed 45 minutes) – (participation 
may be in person or via Zoom)

X. PUBLIC HEARINGS AND VOTE ON ORDINANCES AND/OR RESOLUTIONS

Public Hearings and Second Reading of Ordinances:

A. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING of Ordinance amendment to Chapter 10 –
Zoning Ordinance – Zoning Map, Article 4, Zoning District and Use Regulations, Section 
10.421 – District Location and Boundaries, Section 10.421.10, be amended to remove 
185 Orchard Street, Tax Map 152, Lot 2-1 from the Historic District Overlay (Sample 
motion – move to pass second reading and schedule a third and final reading at 
the March 17, 2025, City Council meeting)
• PRESENTATION
• CITY COUNCIL QUESTIONS
• PUBLIC HEARING SPEAKERS
• ADDITIONAL COUNCIL QUESTIONS AND DELIBERATIONS

https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_yQXXXNrATjWNNz3bA3Cvaw


City Council Meeting Agenda 
March 3, 2025 

Page 2 

B. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING of Ordinance amendment to Chapter 1,
Administrative Code, Article IV – Commissions and Authorities, Section 1.413 –
Sustainability Committee (Sample motion – move to pass second reading and
schedule a third and final reading at the March 17, 2025, City Council meeting)
• PRESENTATION
• CITY COUNCIL QUESTIONS
• PUBLIC HEARING SPEAKERS
• ADDITIONAL COUNCIL QUESTIONS AND DELIBERATIONS

Third and Final Reading of Ordinance: 

C. Third and Final Reading of Ordinance amendment to Chapter 1, Administrative Code,
Article XVI – Adoption of Fees by Budget Resolution, Section 1.1601 – Purpose,
Section 1.1602 – Procedure, Section 1.1603 – Exclusion, Section 1.1604 – Default, of
the Ordinance of the City of Portsmouth (Sample motion – move to pass third and
final reading of the ordinance as presented)

XI. CITY MANAGER’S ITEMS WHICH REQUIRE ACTION

A. CITY MANAGER CONARD

City Manager’s Items Which Require Action: 

1. Request to Restore Involuntarily Merged Lots at 25 Sims Avenue (Sample motion –
move to refer this request to the Planning Board and the City Assessor for a
report back)

2. License Extension for 50 South School Street (Sample motion – move that the City
Manager be authorized to execute and accept the License Extension to encumber
a parking space in the parking lot that abuts the South School Street Park as
requested)

XII. CONSENT AGENDA

A. Letter from Ashley Blackington, Portsmouth Girls Softball Association (PGSA), requesting
permission to hang banners in the outfield and behind the backstop at the Tony Rahn
fields on Pease from March to June (Anticipated action – move to refer to the City
Manager with Authority to Act)

B. Letter from Stephen Infascelli, Marathon Sports, requesting permission to hold the
Portsmouth 5K (formerly known as “Cisco Portsmouth 5K”) on Sunday, May 25, 2025
(Anticipated action – move to refer to the City Manager with Authority to Act)



City Council Meeting Agenda 
March 3, 2025 

Page 3 

C. Letter from Warren Widener, Seacoast Lacrosse Club, requesting permission to place
temporary signage on the fences at the Portsmouth Recreation Athletic Field for the
Spring 2025 lacrosse season (Anticipated action – move to refer to the City Manager
with Authority to Act)

D. Letter from Kate Moran, Leukemia & Lymphoma Society, requesting permission to hold
the annual Light The Night (LTN) on Saturday, October 4, 2025 (Anticipated action –
move to refer to the City Manager with Authority to Act)

E. Letter from Phillip Boisvert, New Hampshire Water Pollution Control Association
(NHWPCA), requesting permission to hold a 5K Race at Pease on Saturday, October 11,
2025 (Anticipated action – move to refer to the City Manager with Authority to Act)

F. Letter from Rich Clyborne, Gundalow Company, requesting permission to conduct the
2025 Round Island Regatta on Saturday, August 9, 2025, at the Robert P. Sullivan Boat
Launch at Peirce Island (Anticipated action – move to refer to the City Manager with
Authority to Act)

XIII. PRESENTATIONS AND WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS

A. Email Correspondence (Sample motion – move to accept and place on file)

XIV. MAYOR McEACHERN

1. *Request from School Board to Establish a Work Session regarding the FY26 Budget

XV. CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS

A. COUNCILOR TABOR

1. Fee Committee Report (Sample motion – move to eliminate the $75.00 table fee and
$10.00 chair fee under the Sidewalk Obstruction ordinance Chapter 9, Article V,
Section 504C effective immediately so long as the tables and chairs are open to
general use, not just for patrons of the business seeking the permit)

2. Housing Committee recommendation of a Payment in Lieu schedule as required in the
Gateway Neighborhood Overlay District ordinance (Sample motion – move to approve
the Payment in Lieu fee table recommended by the Housing Committee as shown
in the packet, subject to update next year and every two years after that by the Fee
Schedule Study Committee or City Council. Proceeds paid will go to the city’s
Housing Trust Fund for the purpose of creating and preserving below market rate
housing in Portsmouth)



City Council Meeting Agenda 
March 3, 2025 

Page 4 

B. COUNCILOR MOREAU

1. *Planning Board Recommendation regarding Zoning Ordinance relating to Accessory
Uses to Permitted Residential Uses

XVI. APPROVAL OF GRANTS/DONATIONS

(There are no items under this section of the agenda)

XVII. CITY MANAGER’S INFORMATIONAL ITEMS

1. Public Meeting for Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan
2. Delayed Opening - Customer Service Pilot Program
3. *2025 Outdoor Dining Update

XVIII. MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS INCLUDING BUSINESS REMAINING UNFINISHED AT 
PREVIOUS MEETING

XIX. ADJOURNMENT [at 10:30 p.m. or earlier]

*Indicates verbal report

KELLI L. BARNABY, MMC/CNHMC 
CITY CLERK



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MUNICIPAL COMPLEX  PORTSMOUTH, NH 
DATE: TUESDAY, JANUARY 21, 2025 TIME: 7:00PM  

Assistant Mayor Kelley moved to close the Non-Public Session and seal the minutes. Seconded 
by Councilor Moreau and voted. 

III. CALL TO ORDER

Mayor McEachern called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.

IV. ROLL CALL

PRESENT: Mayor McEachern, Assistant Mayor Kelley, Councilors Tabor, Cook (via Zoom for
a portion of the meeting), Denton, Blalock, Bagley, Moreau, Lombardi 

V. INVOCATION

Mayor McEachern asked everyone to join in a moment of silent prayer.

VI. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Mayor McEachern led in the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag.

PRESENTATION

1. Fiscal Year 2024 Audit Summary – Matt Hunt, CLG

Matt Hunt stated that the scope of the audit is to express an opinion on whether the financial 
statements are presented in accordance with GAAP. He provided a report on internal controls 
over financial reporting and compliance with laws, regulations, contracts, and grants. He 
indicated that the audit was positive, and the financial statements contain unmodified opinions. 
He stated that this is the best opinion that can be issued in a financial statement audit. Matt also 
expressed that no material misstatements were identified. Matt advised the City Council that 
there were no internal control findings, no compliance findings and no findings or issues. Phil 
Hwang presented long-term liabilities and indicated that long term debt increased slightly over 
the prior year. Matt concluded that significant issues discussed with management prior to 
engagement were all within the normal course of our professional relationship. He again stated 
that this was a very positive audit. 

VII. ACCEPTANCE OF MINUTES – DECEMBER 2, 2024 AND DECEMBER 9, 2024

Councilor Moreau moved to accept and approve the minutes of the December 2, 2024,
and December 9, 2024 City Council meetings. Seconded by Councilor Lombardi and
voted.

VIII. RECOGNITIONS AND VOLUNTEER COMMITTEE REPORTS

(There are no items under this section of the agenda this evening)



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 21, 2025 

Page 2 
 

IX. PUBLIC COMMENT SESSION 
 
Petra Huda said the Management Letter addressed some deficiencies and wanted to make sure that 
those have been taken care of. She said internal controls are important to make sure things are in place 
for accounts. She said when preparing the budget departments should start with actual numbers from 
last year when producing percentage increases. 
 
Sue Sterry spoke on restoration projects at North Cemetery. She said that there are twenty-two patriot 
leaders in the North Cemetery. She spoke to the donation the city would be accepting for $10,000.00 
for the North Cemetery. She suggested a committee be appointed for the 250th Celebration for the 
Signing of the Declaration of Independence.  

 
Assistant Mayor Kelley moved to suspend the rules to bring forward Item XV. A.1. – Guidance 
to the City Manager regarding the FY26 Budget. Seconded by Councilor Bagley. 
 
On a unanimous roll call 9-0 vote, motion passed. 

 
XV. CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

A. COUNCILOR TABOR 
 
1. Guidance to the City Manager regarding the FY26 Budget 

 
Councilor Tabor moved that the City Council adopt the following guidance for the City Manager 
for FY26 Budget: 

• Target 3.5% as the increase in total expenditure 
• No increase in headcount unless the position is self-funding; and, 
• If the target will result in a loss of the current level of services, provide details and explanation 

from affected departments to the City Council 
Seconded by Councilor Denton. 
 
Councilor Tabor said more than ½ of the taxpayer have seen an increase of 10% in their taxes. He 
stated that this is important that we do not impact the increase any more than 3.5% and he is aware 
that it will take work to get to that number. 
 
Councilor Bagley said the Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA) increase for Social Security is 2.5%. He 
said he would like to see the percentage to be 2.5% - 2.9%. 
 
Councilor Blalock moved to amend for a target of 0% increase for the FY26 Budget. Seconded 
by Assistant Mayor Kelley for discussion purposes. 
 
Councilor Blalock said it is the City Council’s job to hold the line for a 0% increase. He said he 
understands COLA and step increases are part of the budget and trusts departments to look out for the 
taxpayers. 
  



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 21, 2025 

Page 3 
 

Councilor Cook said she agrees with Councilor Bagley that we need to pay attention to the Social 
Security number and depend on that number. She said the 2.5% Social Security number should be the 
limit. She said she is concerned with a 0% budget and what that would mean for the cutting of significant 
staff.  
 
Councilor Bagley said he agrees with Councilor Cook statements and a 0% increase would be 
devasting to the budget.  
 
Mayor McEachern said 2.9% would not be unreasonable. He stated we need to look at what decisions 
need to be made to get to the 0% and we would look at 0% based budget as an exercise. 
 
Assistant Mayor Kelley said she would be supportive of a 2.9% increase. She said we need to switch 
that way we come forward with guidance and come forward earlier. She said guidance should go to the 
City Manager and Charter Commissions. She stated that the Council does not control the line items in 
the Charter Commissions budgets. She said she is trying to find a way to go forward and have a broader 
discussion with the Charter Commissions before guidance is presented to leadership. 
 
Councilor Blalock said we are giving guidance this evening if 0% cannot be met we need to see the 
impact. He urged the Council guidance to be frugal. 
 
Councilor Moreau said she would like to see something under 3%, 2.5% - 2.9%. She said clearly some 
things will need to go. 
 
Mayor McEachern asked what the existing contracts would mean for step increases and COLA”s and 
what percentage is that for the budget next year. 
 
City Manager Conard said we could work with 24 actual numbers. 
 
Deputy City Manager/Finance Administration Lunney said COLA is 2.84% and steps are between 1% 
- 5%. He said when an employee reaches the top of the step they would only have COLA’s and steps 
impacts added to COLA would be between 4% - 4.5%. 
 
Mayor McEachern said if we gave 0% as guidance the concern among residents would be what is lost. 
He said 2.9% is slightly above the rate of inflation. 
 
Councilor Cook said she could not come in higher than the Social Security 2.5%. She suggested looking 
at positions that are close to retirement as well for savings. 
 
Councilor Lombardi said that a 2.9% would be appropriate. He said we need to look at the number of 
positions unfilled over the last few years and if they need to be filled. 
 
Councilor Tabor said he would not support 0% because we tried that in 2019/2020. He said wage 
increases to offset that would mean we would have less staff. He said we would probably freeze hiring. 
He said that if you cut and replace people then you lose services that residents are used to. He likes 
the mayor’s idea of knowing where it will impact us. He said it may take time, but people will feel that 
loss in services. Councilor Tabor said let’s challenge the department’s heads but not set it as a target. 
 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 21, 2025 

Page 4 
 

Mayor McEachern said the issue we are facing is impacting on competitive services. He said he would 
like to see a 2.5% and what 0% would look like. 
 
On a roll call vote 3-6, motion to amend for a target of 0% increase for the FY26 Budget failed to 
pass. Councilors Denton, Blalock and Mayor McEachern voted in favor. Assistant Mayor Kelley, 
Councilors Tabor, Cook, Bagley, Moreau and Lombardi voted opposed. 
 
Councilor Tabor moved to amend the original motion for a budget target of 2.9% as the increase 
in total expenditure and the City Manager provide details on what a 0% increase would mean 
for loss in services. Seconded by Councilor Denton. 
 
Councilor Bagley said to come below 2.8% is unrealistic. 
 
Councilor Denton said if the City Council does not pass the budget it would default to the City Manager’s 
budget. 
 
Councilor Cook said she would not support 2.9% and would like to see 2.5%. 
 
Mayor McEachern said he supported the amendment because it is a guidance. He said the vote we 
make in June will be the most important vote.  
 
On a roll call 8-1, voted to pass the main motion as modified. Assistant Mayor Kelley, Councilors 
Tabor, Denton, Blalock, Bagley, Moreau, Lombardi and Mayor McEachern voted in favor. 
Councilor Cook voted opposed. 
 
Adopt the following guidance for the City Manager for FY26 Budget: 

• Target 2.9% as the increase in total expenditure 
• No increase in headcount unless the position is self-funding; and, 
• If the target will result in a loss of the current level of service, provide details and explanation for affected 

departments to the City Council 
 
Councilor Cook left the remainder of the meeting which she was attending via zoom. 
 
X. PUBLIC HEARINGS AND VOTE ON ORDINANCES AND/OR RESOLUTIONS 
 

First Reading of Ordinance: 
 
A. First Reading of Ordinance amendment to Chapter 10 – Zoning Ordinance – Zoning Map, 

Article 4, Zoning District and Use Regulations, Section 10.421 – District Location and 
Boundaries, Section 10.421.10, be amended to remove 185 Orchard Street, Tax Map 
152, Lot 2-1 from the Historic District Overlay 

 
Councilor Blalock moved that the City Council pass first reading and schedule a public hearing 
and second reading of the proposed Zoning Map amendment at the February 18, 2025, City 
Council meeting. Seconded by Councilor Bagley and voted. 
 
  



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 21, 2025 

Page 5 
 

XI. CITY MANAGER’S ITEMS WHICH REQUIRE ACTION 
 

A. CITY MANAGER CONARD 
 
1. City Appointment to Seacoast Commission on Long-Term Goals and Requirements for 

Drinking Water 
 
City Manager Conard said we would be replacing Brian Goetz with Al Pratt. 
 
Councilor Denton moved to appoint Albert Pratt, Water Resources Manager, as the City of 
Portsmouth’s representative to the Seacoast Commission on Long-Term Goals and 
Requirements for Drinking Water. Seconded by Councilor Blalock and voted. 

 
2. Parking Agreement for Strawbery Banke Museum 

 
City Manager Conard said this agreement would be renewed. 
 
Councilor Tabor moved that the City Manager be authorized to negotiate and enter into a 
Parking Agreement with Strawbery Banke in a form like the attachment in the City Council 
packet of January 21, 2025. Seconded by Councilor Moreau and voted. 
 

3. Request for Public Hearing on Elderly Exemptions 
 
City Manager Conard spoke to the Elderly Exemption to bring the conversation before the application 
deadline in April. She said the assessor will be here at the next meeting. 
 
Assistant Mayor Kelley moved to schedule a public hearing on February 3, 2025, City Council 
meeting. Seconded by Councilor Denton and voted. 
 

4. Request for Public Hearing on Disabled Exemptions 
 
City Manager Conard said this would be similar but for the disabled exemption. 
 
Councilor Lombardi moved to schedule a public hearing on February 3, 2025, City Council 
meeting. Seconded by Councilor Denton and voted. 
 

5. Request for Public Hearing on the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Loan 
 
City Manager Conard said a presentation will be held at the next meeting on this matter. She said the 
city is being proactive for those with private connections. 
 
Assistant Mayor Kelley moved to schedule a public hearing at the February 3, 2025, City council 
meeting to authorize the borrowing of up to $3,500.000.00 from the New Hampshire Drinking 
Water State Revolving Fund to assist customers and galvanized service line replacements and 
fund service line inventory compliance efforts. Seconded by Councilor Moreau and voted. 
 
  



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 21, 2025 

Page 6 
 

XII. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

Councilor Denton moved to adopt the Consent Agenda as presented. Seconded by 
Councilor Bagley and voted. 

 
A. Letter from Latrice Smith, National Multiple Sclerosis Society, requesting permission to 

hold the 2025 Walk for MS on Saturday, May 31, 2025 (Anticipated action – move to 
refer to the City Manager with Authority to Act) 

 
B. Letter from Jenna Raizes, Portsmouth Little League, requesting to add signage at three 

City fields: Central Field, Plains Field, and Hislop Field (Anticipated action – move to 
refer to the City Manager with Authority to Act) 

 
XIII. PRESENTATIONS AND WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS 
 

A. Email Correspondence 
 
Councilor Lombardi moved to accept and place on file. Seconded by Councilor Denton and 
voted. 
 
XIV. MAYOR McEACHERN 
 

1. Appointments to be Voted: 
• Reappointment of Jeff Stern to the Board of Library Trustees until October 1, 2027 
• Appointment of Bill Bowen as Regular member to the Planning Board until December 

31, 2027 
• Reappointment of Anthony Coviello to the Planning Board until December 31, 2027 
• Appointment of Ryann Wolf to the Planning Board until December 31, 2027 
• Appointment of Frank Perier as an Alternate to the Planning Board until December 31, 

2027 
• Appointment of Frederick Calcinari to the Sustainability Committee until January 1, 

2027 
• Appointment of Rhianne Tallarico to the Sustainability Committee until January 1, 

2027 
• Reappointment of Thomas Watson to the Trustees of the Trust Fund until January 1, 

2028 
 
Councilor Moreau moved to reappoint Jeff Stern to the Board of Library Trustees and Bill 
Bowen, Anthony Coviello, Ryann Wolf and Frank Peier (Alternate) to the Planning Board; 
Frederick Calcinari and Rhianne Tallarico appointment to the Sustainability Committee and 
reappointment of Thomas Watson to the Trustees of the Trust Funds. Seconded by Councilor 
Lombardi and voted. 
  



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 21, 2025 

Page 7 
 

XV. CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

B. COUNCILOR COOK 
 
1. Request for First Reading regarding Adoption of Fees Ordinance 

 
Councilor Tabor moved to bring forward Adoption of Fees Ordinance for First Reading at the 
February 3, 2025 City Council meeting. Seconded by Councilor Moreau and voted. 
 

C. COUNCILOR BLALOCK 
 
1. Student Government Day 

 
Councilor Blalock announced the dates for Student Government Day 2025: 

• Saturday, February 1st at 9:00 a.m. – Student Senate meeting to promote participation  
• Thursday, March 13th at 2:45 p.m. – Organizational Meeting with students at Portsmouth High 

School Library 
• Monday, March 17th at 7:00 p.m. – Students will shadow City Council during regular meeting 
• Tuesday, March 25th at 7:00 p.m. – Students will Shadow School Board during regular meeting 
• Friday, March 28th – Student Government Day followed by mock City Council meeting 

 
XVI. APPROVAL OF GRANTS/DONATIONS 

A. Acceptance of Overwatch .Gov Grant Award - $10,000.00 
 
Assistant Mayor Kelley moved to approve and accept the Grant as presented. Seconded by 
Councilor Lombardi and voted. 
 

B. Acceptance of Donation for the Restoration of Old North Cemetery from the David and 
Jacqueline Mahoney Fund - $10,000.00 

 
Councilor Denton moved to approve and accept the Donation as presented. Seconded by 
Councilor Tabor and voted. 
 
XVII. CITY MANAGER’S INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
 

Pease Development Authority Board Meeting Update – City Manager Conard reported that Port 
City Air will be making significant improvements to their hanger beginning July 1, 2025. She 
announced that Boston Med Flight is coming to the Tradeport and will be providing services to 
northern New England beginning March 1, 2025. She advised the City Council that Eversource 
is increasing their capacity and infrastructure at the Tradeport. In addition, she reported that the 
Air National Guard Tower is the 9th busiest tower in the world. In closing, she advised the City 
Council that the Portsmouth Commercial Fish Pier building is constructing a new 6,000 square 
foot building and that there will be no PDA meeting in February. 
  
New Procurement Platform Update – City Manager Conard announced that the new on-line 
procurement platform has gone live. 
 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 21, 2025 

Page 8 
 

Report Back on Sweetser Request – City Manager Conard advised the City Council that the 
recent Sweetser Request was not seeking reimbursement for services provided but a fundraiser 
request and the Welfare Director will work with them to see if they qualify for our Social Services 
Program. 

 
XVIII. MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS INCLUDING BUSINESS REMAINING UNFINISHED AT 

PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
Councilor Tabor announced that the city won the Housing Champion Award which included $64,000.00 
that will be used to audit and review all of our zoning to find ways we can create more housing. He 
advised the Council that there will be a public process component for the changes. 
 
XIX. ADJOURNMENT 
 
At 8:20 p.m., Councilor Moreau moved to adjourn the meeting. Seconded by Councilor Blalock 
and voted. 
 

 
KELLI L. BARNABY, MMC/NHCMC 
CITY CLERK 



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MUNICIPAL COMPLEX  PORTSMOUTH, NH 
DATE: MONDAY, FEBRUARY 3, 2025 TIME: 7:00PM  

Assistant Mayor Kelley moved to close the Non-Public Session and seal the minutes. Seconded 
by Councilor Lombardi and voted. 

III. CALL TO ORDER

Mayor McEachern called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.

IV. ROLL CALL

PRESENT: Mayor McEachern, Assistant Mayor Kelley, Councilors Tabor, Cook, Denton,
Blalock, Bagley, Moreau, Lombardi 

V. INVOCATION

Mayor McEachern sent heartfelt condolences to the Bourbon Family at the recent loss of their
daughter Norah.

VI. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Mayor McEachern led in the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag.

PROCLAMATION

1. Black History Month (Not on agenda)

Mayor McEachern read the Proclamation declaring February as Black History Month in 
Portsmouth and urged all citizens to champion our commitment to racial equity and inclusion 
and to sustain the open door of diversity throughout our community. 

VII. ACCEPTANCE OF MINUTES – DECEMBER 16, 2024

Councilor Moreau moved to accept and approve the minutes of the December 16, 2024,
City Council meeting. Seconded by Councilor Lombardi and voted.

IX. PUBLIC COMMENT SESSION

There were no speakers this evening.

X. PUBLIC HEARINGS AND VOTE ON ORDINANCES AND/OR RESOLUTIONS

First Reading of Ordinance:

1. First Reading of Ordinance amending to Chapter 1, Administrative Code, Article XVI –
Adoption of Fees by Budget Resolution, Section 1.1601 – Purpose, Section 1.1602 –
Procedure, Section 1.1603 – Exclusion, Section 1.1604 – Default, of the Ordinances of
the City of Portsmouth



City Council Meeting Minutes 
February 3, 2025 

Page 2 
 

Councilor Cook moved to pass first reading and schedule a public hearing and second reading 
for the February 18, 2025, City Council meeting. Seconded by Councilor Denton. 
 
Councilor Cook said that this was a clean up to the Administrative Code and allows that fees may be 
changed throughout the year and not just during the adoption of the budget. 
 
Motion passed. 
 

Public Hearing/Second Reading of Ordinance: 
 

B. PUBLIC HEARING AND ADOPTION of Resolution Pursuant to RSA 72:39-b Regarding 
the Elderly Exemption on Assessed Value for Qualified Taxpayers  
• PRESENTATION 
• CITY COUNCIL QUESTIONS 
• PUBLIC HEARING SPEAKERS 
• ADDITIONAL COUNCIL QUESTIONS AND DELIBERATIONS 

 
OPTION 1: 
 
Proposed increase of Elderly Exemption by the Social Security cost-of-living increase 
 
Single  $55,350 (increase of $1,350) 
Married $72,563 (increase of $1,770) 
Asset Limit $500,000 
 
OPTION 2: 
 
Proposed increase of Elderly Exemption by the November to November consumer price 
index 
 
Single  $55,534 (increase of $1,534) 
Married $72,804 (increase of $2,011) 
Asset Limit $500,000   
 
OPTION 3: 
 
Proposed increase of Elderly Exemption 
 
Do Nothing 

 
The elderly exemption shall remain unchanged except as amended hereby. 

 
City Manager Conard said that Assessor Lentz would provide a brief presentation regarding the City’s 
annual review of Elderly and Disabled Exemptions.  
 
  



City Council Meeting Minutes 
February 3, 2025 

Page 3 
 

Assessor Lentz  spoke regarding the eligibility requirements and the two options available. She advised 
the City Council that she would recommend Option 2 for the Elderly Exemption, which is by the 
November to November consumer price index, which provides a little more for those to qualify for the 
exemption. 
 
Mayor McEachern asked how many elderly people did not meet the qualifications last year. Assessing 
Director Lentz said there were eleven applicants that did not meet the qualifications due to asset limits. 
 
Mayor McEachern read the legal notice, declared the public hearing open and called for speakers. With 
no speakers, Mayor McEachern declared the public hearing closed. 
 
Assistant Mayor Kelley moved to adopt Option #2 of the Elderly Exemption Resolution as 
presented. Seconded by Councilor Bagley. 
 
Mayor McEachern requested information regarding the exemption be made available on the website. 
Assessing Director Lentz said that she will put notices at the Senior Center. Councilor Bagley suggested 
that a workshop be held by the Assessor’s Department at the Library or the Senior Center. 
 
Motion passed. 
 

C. PUBLIC HEARING AND ADOPTION of Resolution Pursuant to RSA 72:39-b Regarding 
the Disabled Exemption on Assessed Value for Qualified Taxpayers  
• PRESENTATION 
• CITY COUNCIL QUESTIONS 
• PUBLIC HEARING SPEAKERS 
• ADDITIONAL COUNCIL QUESTIONS AND DELIBERATIONS 
 
OPTION 1: 
 
Proposed increase of Disabled Exemption by the Social Security cost-of-living increase 
 
Single  $55,350 (increase of $1,350) 
Married $72,563 (increase of $1,770) 
Asset Limit $500,000 
 
OPTION 2: 
 
Proposed increase of Disabled Exemption by the November to November consumer price 
index 
 
Single  $55,534 (increase of $1,534) 
Married $72,804 (increase of $2,011) 
Asset Limit $500,000   
 
OPTION 3: 
 
Proposed increase of Disabled Exemption 
 
Do Nothing 
 
The disabled exemption shall remain unchanged except as amended hereby. 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
February 3, 2025 

Page 4 
 

Mayor McEachern read the legal notice, declared the public hearing open and called for speakers. With 
no speakers, Mayor McEachern declared the public hearing closed. 
 
Councilor Tabor moved to adopt Option #2 of the Disabled Exemption Resolution as presented. 
Seconded by Councilor Blalock and voted. 
 

D. PUBLIC HEARING AND ADOPTION of Resolution Authorizing a Bond Issue and/or 
Notes of the City under the Municipal Finance Act and/or Participation in the State 
Revolving Fund (SRF) Loan of up to Three Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars 
($3,500,000.00) to Assist Customers with Galvanized Service Line Replacements and 
Fund Service Line Inventory Compliance Efforts 
• PRESENTATION 
• CITY COUNCIL QUESTIONS 
• PUBLIC HEARING SPEAKERS 
• ADDITIONAL COUNCIL QUESTIONS AND DELIBERATIONS 

 
Water Resource Manager Pratt provided a brief presentation and reported that 29% will be the payment 
of the loan. He reported that 20% of service lines still need to be identified and the galvanized service 
lines would be replaced. 
 
Councilor Denton moved to authorize participation in the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund 
(SRF) Loan Program of up to Three Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($3,500,000.00), with 
71% principal forgiveness, for costs related to assisting customer with galvanized service line 
replacements and funding the City’s service line inventory compliance efforts. Seconded by 
Councilor Cook. 
 
Mayor McEachern read the legal notice, declared the public hearing open and called for speakers. With 
no speakers, Mayor McEachern declared the public hearing closed. 
 
On a unanimous roll call 9-0, motion passed. 
 

E. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING of Ordinance amendment to Chapter 10, 
Zoning Ordinance, by Striking Article 5, Measurement Rules, Section 10.515.14; by 
Amending Section 10.515.13; and by Adding new Sections 10.811.60 and 10.811.61, 
relating to Accessory Uses to Permitted Residential Uses of the Ordinance of the City of 
Portsmouth  
• PRESENTATION 
• CITY COUNCIL QUESTIONS 
• PUBLIC HEARING SPEAKERS 
• ADDITIONAL COUNCIL QUESTIONS AND DELIBERATIONS 

 
Mayor McEachern read the legal notice, declared the public hearing open and called for speakers. 
 
Deputy City Attorney McCourt reported at the October 7, 2024, City Council meeting, the City Council 
voted to refer to the Legal and Planning and Sustainability Departments a request to draft an ordinance 
which would exempt certain structures which do not require a building permit from zoning requirements. 
He said the ordinance limits review of structures accessory to one and two-family dwellings such as 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
February 3, 2025 

Page 5 
 

sheds, playhouses, treehouses, playground equipment, and prefabricated above-ground pools and hot 
tubs. He stated under this proposal, up to one of these structures per dwelling unit would be exempt 
from zoning regulations such as setbacks and lot coverage and would only need approval pursuant to 
environmental protection standards, Historic District compliance with corner lot vision obstruction 
regulations. He added that this proposal includes increasing the height of fences exempt from side and 
rear yard setbacks from six feet to eight feet. He also stated the proposal contains the elimination of 
the regulation of certain HVAC equipment pursuant to Section 10.515.14. 
 
Councilor Moreau moved to suspend the rules to take up Item XV. B. – Councilor Moreau – 
Update on Zoning Ordinance amendment relating to Accessory Uses to Permitted Residential 
Uses. Seconded by Councilor Tabor and voted. 
 
Councilor Moreau announced that the Planning Board will be having their Public Hearing on February 
20th regarding this ordinance. 
 
Discussion followed regarding structures on properties and the effect this ordinance would have on 
them. 
 
Councilor Moreau moved to amend Section 10.811.60 by the removal of the words “up to one” 
to read as follows: Any lot containing one or two dwelling units is permitted to construction and 
maintain one-story detached accessory structure used as a tool or storage shed, playhouse, 
treehouse, or similar use per dwelling unit on the property, with a square footage not greater 
than 120 square feet. Voted to pass as amended second reading and hold third and final reading 
at the March 17, 2025, City Council meeting. Seconded by Councilor Cook. 
 
Mayor McEachern passed the gavel to Assistant Mayor Kelley. 
 
Mayor McEachern said he is frustrated that we do not have an opinion by the Planning Board on this 
matter. He spoke to the processes residents have to go through appearing before boards regarding 
such matters. 
 
Assistant Mayor Kelley returned the gavel to Mayor McEachern. 
 
With no speakers, Mayor McEachern declared the public hearing closed. 
 
Councilor Blalock moved the motion as amended. Seconded by Councilor Moreau. 
 
Councilor Moreau said she would bring a report back from the Planning Board at the March 3, 2025, 
City Council meeting. 
 
Motion passed. 
 
XI. CITY MANAGER’S ITEMS WHICH REQUIRE ACTION 

 
A. CITY MANAGER CONARD 

 
1. Acceptance of Parking Utilization Study and Recommendations 

 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
February 3, 2025 

Page 6 
 

City Manager Conard said a public informational session was held on this study. 
 
Councilor Bagley moved to ratify the results of the City of Portsmouth Parking Utilization Study 
and Recommendations. Seconded by Assistant Mayor Kelley. 
 
Councilor Bagley stated that this study was held for over a year and the report is very detailed. 
 
Councilor Cook encouraged residents to review the parking study.  
 
Councilor Tabor said that this study is an excellent product of work. He stated that a third parking 
garage is outlined in this study. He suggested the creation of a shuttle for downtown. 
 
Mayor McEachern thanked Parking Director Fletcher and his team for the work on this study with a 
desire to solve parking issues downtown. 
 
Motion passed. 
 

2. Acceptance of Several Easements for Property Located at 105 Bartlett Street 
 

City Manager Conard reported on the easements and said that this is particularly important for the City 
of Portsmouth. 
 
Assistant Mayor Kelley moved to authorize the City Manager to accept and record a community 
space easement, greenway easement, an access easement for water services, and an access 
easement from Bartlett Residential, LLC and accept an access easement from Iron Horse 
Properties, LLC in substantially similar form to the easement deed contained in the agenda 
packet. Seconded by Councilor Cook and voted. 
 

3. Request for Public Hearing to Increase Sate Revolving Loan Fund Authorization for 
Pease Wastewater Treatment Facility Rehabilitation 

 
City Manager Conard reported a public hearing to increase participation for State Revolving Fund Loan 
is being requested. 
 
Councilor Lombardi moved to establish a public hearing at the February 18th City Council 
meeting to increase the FY25 Pease Wastewater Treatment Facility borrowing to $25,128,000.00 
as described. Seconded by Councilor Tabor. 
 
Councilor Moreau asked what additional work would we will be able to get done and will that cause us 
any issues with our debt level. 
 
City Engineer Fiedler explained that the State came to the City to say that funds were available as other 
communities could not complete their projects in accordance with the requirements, which have made 
the funds available. 
 
Motion passed. 
  



City Council Meeting Minutes 
February 3, 2025 

Page 7 
 

XII. CONSENT AGENDA 
 
A. Request from Mario LaPosta & Joseph Bisognano of Mamma Luca LLC to install two 

Projecting Signs at 111 State Street (Anticipated action – move to approve the 
aforementioned Projecting Sign Licenses as recommended by the Planning & 
Sustainability Director, and further, authorize the City Manager to execute the 
License Agreement for this request) 

 
Planning Director’s Stipulations: 
• The license shall be approved by the Legal Department as to content and 

form; 
• Any removal or relocation of projecting signs, for any reason, shall be done 

at no cost to the City; and   
• Any disturbance of a sidewalk, street or other public infrastructure 

resulting from the installation, relocation or removal of the projecting 
signs, for any reason shall be restored at no cost to the City and shall be 
subject to review and acceptance by the Department of Public Works 

 
B. Letter from JerriAnne Boggis, Black Heritage Trail, requesting permission to hold Wade 

in the Water: A Drumbeat for Spiritual Renewal at the African Burying Ground Memorial 
Park on Wednesday, June 19, 2025 (Anticipated action – move to refer to the City 
Manager with Authority to Act) 
 

C. Letter from Rich Clyborne, Gundalow Company, requesting permission to conduct the 
2025 Riverfest event on Saturday, July 12, 2025 (Anticipated action – move to refer to 
the City Manager with Authority to Act) 

 
D. Letter from Bryan Curley, Seacoast Veterans Count, requesting permission to hold the 

Pack & Boots 5K Road Race on Friday, July 4, 2025 (Anticipated action – move to 
refer to the City Manager with Authority to Act) 

 
Councilor Moreau moved to adopt the Consent Agenda. Seconded by Councilor Bagley and 
voted. 
 
Councilor Cook expressed concern regarding the Seacoast Veterans Count Pack & Boots Road Race 
taking place at the same time as the Naturalization Ceremonies and would like City Manager Conard 
to handle the concerns. 
 
XIII. PRESENTATIONS AND WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS 

 
A. Email Correspondence  

 
Councilor Blalock moved to accept and place on file. Seconded by Councilor Denton and voted. 

 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
February 3, 2025 

Page 8 
 

B. Letter from Mindy Moore, IAPP, requesting permission to host a VIP event on 
Wednesday, June 25, 2025 – Thursday, June 26, 2025, at several locations in downtown 
Portsmouth 

 
Councilor Moreau moved to refer to the City Manager with Authority to Act. Seconded by 
Councilor Lombardi and voted. 
 
XIV. MAYOR McEACHERN 

 
1. Ethics Committee Drawing by Lot 

 
Mayor McEachern asked City Clerk Barnaby to proceed with the drawing by lot for the Councilor who 
will be serving on the Ethics Committee. 
 
City Clerk Barnaby had City Attorney Morrell draw the name that would be serving on the Ethics 
Committee. City Clerk Barnaby announced that Councilor Moreau was selected to serve on the Ethics 
Committee. 
 
XV. CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS 

 
A. COUNCILOR DENTON 
 
1. Sustainability Ordinance  

 
Councilor Denton moved to schedule first reading to amend Chapter 1, Article IV, Section 1.413 
– Sustainability Committee as outlined at the February 18, 2025, City Council meeting. Seconded 
by Councilor Cook. 
 
Councilor Denton recognized Bert Cohen for his time serving as Chair of the Sustainability Committee. 
He announced that the new Chair is Effie Malley and Jessica Blasko will serve as Vice Chair. He also 
informed the Council that the eco-members from the High School would be reduced from two to one 
with one vote. 
 
Motion passed. 
 
XVI. APPROVAL OF GRANTS/DONATIONS 

  
A. Acceptance of Donations for Artwork Entitled “Salt Piles” by Carl Austin Hyatt - 

$10,000.00  
 
Councilor Moreau moved to approve and accept the donations as presented. Seconded by 
Assistant Mayor Kelley. 
 
Councilor Cook announced the list of donors and thanked them each for their donations. 
 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
February 3, 2025 

Page 9 
 

Councilor Moreau moved to suspend the rules to allow Chris Dwyer to come forward and speak 
on this matter. Seconded by Councilor Cook and voted. 
 
Chris Dwyer said that this is an iconic piece and would like to provide another exhibit for display at City 
Hall. 
 
Main motion passed. 

 
B. Acceptance of Grant for the Police Department from the NH Department of Safety to 

purchase night vision equipment - $11,076.00 

Councilor Tabor moved to approve and accept the Grant as presented. Seconded by Councilor 
Bagley and voted. 

 
C. Acceptance of ARPA Funded Grant Amendment for Rehabilitation Contract 1 Project 

Assistant Mayor Kelley moved to authorize the City Manager to enter into Amendment No. 2 of 
the ARPA Grant Agreement CW-334106-05 with the State of New Hampshire Department of 
Environmental Services for modification of the anticipated project substantial completion date 
to the Sewer Rehabilitation Contract 1 Project by one year to a completion date of April 1, 2026. 
Seconded by Councilor Cook and voted. 

 
D. Acceptance of Great Bay Resource Protection Partnership Stewardship Grant - 

$9,991.00  

Councilor Blalock moved to authorize the City Manager to enter into a grant agreement to accept 
and expend funds in the amount of $9,991.00 from the Great Bay Resource Protection 
Partnership to conduct the Buffer Revival: Enhancing Tidal Wetland Health and Community 
Awareness project. Seconded by Councilor Denton and voted. 
 
XVII. CITY MANAGER’S INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

 
1. Combined Motor Vehicle and ParkMobile Resident Discount Registration 

 
City Manager Conard announced beginning February 3, 2025, the Tax Office will offer all residents 
registering their vehicles at the public counter the opportunity to apply for the City’s Resident Parking 
Discount program available through ParkMobile. 
 
Mayor McEachern said that creating this system was not easy and appreciated the work that went into 
the process. 
 
Councilor Bagley said it opens the possibility for Neighborhood Parking opportunities. 
  



City Council Meeting Minutes 
February 3, 2025 

Page 10 
 

2. Update on FlashVote Survey Regarding Library Services 
 
City Manager Conard reported that the most recent FlashVote survey was relative to library services. 
She indicated that 422 respondents indicated their awareness of the library’s digital learning resources 
and in-person classes and workshops and offered additional comments and suggestions. She stated 
that many respondents praised the library and its services, calling it “amazing,” “beautiful,” “wonderful.” 
“great,” “terrific,” a “gem” and a “jewel.” 
 

3. Snow Operations and Solid Waste Staffing Impacts 
 
City Manager Conard spoke to Department of Public Works responsibility for winter maintenance of 
over one hundred miles of roadway and 75 miles of sidewalk in addition to normal services such as 
trash and recycling collection. She stated during the winter season, understaffing and unpredictable 
weather conditions can stretch personnel resources to where the level of service provided by the City 
may be affected. She said winter weather complicates normal DPW operations and staff strive to meet 
resident expectations. However, the timeliness of completing these services may be impacted. City 
Manager Conard said the Department appreciates the disruption of unpredictable winer weather on our 
residents and will continue to provide services to the best of their ability given resources and staff 
provided and available. 
 

4. Status of Federal Funding 
 
Deputy City Manager | Finance & Administration Lunney provided a brief report on the status of Federal 
Funding. He spoke to the areas that could be affected by the loss in federal funding and said that he 
will continue to keep the Council updated on this matter. 
 
XVIII. MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS INCLUDING BUSINESS REMAINING UNFINISHED AT 

PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
Councilor Tabor provided an update on Community Power pricing. 
 
Councilor Blalock said that he would be participating in the Polar Plunge. 
 
XIX. ADJOURNMENT 
 
At 8:50 p.m., Councilor Moreau moved to adjourn the meeting. Seconded by Councilor Blalock 
and voted. 
 

 
KELLI L. BARNABY, MMC/CNHMC 
CITY CLERK 



















Karen S. Conard 
City Manager 

 

CITY OF PORTSMOUTH 
Municipal Complex 
1 Junkins Avenue 

Portsmouth, New Hampshire 03801 
kconard@portsmouthnh.gov 

(603) 610-7201 

 

Date: February 27, 2025 

To: Honorable Mayor McEachern and City Council Members 

From: Karen S. Conard, City Manager     

Re: City Manager’s Comments on City Council Agenda of March 3, 2025 

X .  P u b l i c  H e a r i n g s  a n d  V o t e  o n  O r d i n a n c e s  A n d / o r  
R e s o l u t i o n s :  

A. Public Hearing and Second Reading of Ordinance Amendment to Chapter 10 – Zoning 
Ordinance – Zoning Map, Article 4, Zoning District and Use Regulations, Section 10.421 
– District Location and Boundaries, Section 10.421.10, be amended to remove 185 
Orchard Street, Tax Map 152, Lot 2-1 from the Historic District Overlay: 

At the October 7, 2024 City Council meeting, the Council considered a letter from Jessica and 
Scott Rafferty, owners of property located at 185 Orchard Street, Tax Map 152 Lot 2-1 
(“Property”), requesting that the Property be removed from the Historic District, which is an 
overlay district. The Council voted to refer the proposed zoning map amendment to remove 
the “Property” from the Historic District for reports back from both the Planning Board and 
Historic District Commission. 

The “Property” was created recently through a subdivision of 15 Lafayette Road that was 
approved by the Planning Board on July 20, 2023. The original lot had frontage on Lafayette 
Road and Orchard Street and is located in the Historic District. The Historic District along 
Lafayette Road and Middle Street follows parcel boundary lines and includes the parcel 
fronting on those streets as shown in the attached map. Now that the “Property” has been 
subdivided, the frontage is located on Orchard Street, where no other property falls within the 
Historic District. A zoning map amendment is necessary in order to change overlay by 
removing the “Property” from the Historic District. The existing and proposed change to the 
Historic District boundary is depicted in the attached maps. 

At the October 17, 2024 meeting, the Planning Board voted to recommend the City Council 
remove 185 Orchard Street from the Historic District. 

At the January 8, 2025 meeting, the Historic District Commission voted to recommend removal 
of 185 Orchard Street from the Historic District.   

mailto:kconard@portsmouthnh.gov


CM Comment 3_3_2025 

Page | 2  
 
 

At the January 21, 2025 City Council meeting, the City Council voted to pass first reading 
and schedule a public hearing and second reading. 

I recommend that the City Council move to pass second reading and schedule a third and 
final reading at the March 17, 2025 City Council meeting. 

B. Public Hearing and Second Reading of Ordinance Amending Chapter 1, Administrative 
Code, Article IV – Commissions and Authorities, Section 1.413 – Sustainability 
Committee: 

Please find attached amendments for Chapter 1, Administrative Code, Article IV – 
Commissions and Authorities, Section 1.413 – Sustainability Committee. These changes arise 
out of requested updates from the Sustainability Committee and will assist the Sustainability 
Committee in achieving quorum at their meetings. 

I recommend that the City Council move to pass second reading and schedule a third and final 
reading at the March 17, 2025 City Council meeting. 

C. Third and Final Reading of Ordinance Amending Chapter 1, Administrative Code, 
Article XVI – Adoption of Fees by Budget Resolution, Section 1.601 – Purpose, Section 
1.1602 – Procedure, Section 1.1603 – Exclusion, Section 1.1604 – Default, of the 
Ordinances of the City of Portsmouth: 

Attached please find proposed amendments to Chapter 1 which have been reviewed and 
recommended by the Governance Committee for action. 

I recommend that the City Council move to pass third and final reading of the ordinance as 
presented. 

X I .  C i t y  M a n a g e r ’ s  I t e m s  W h i c h  R e q u i r e  A c t i o n :  

1. Request to Restore Involuntarily Merged Lots at 25 Sims Avenue: 

Applicant Michael Roylos has submitted an application/request to the City for Restoration of 
Involuntarily Merged Lots for the property located at 25 Sims Avenue, Portsmouth, New 
Hampshire; Map/Block/Lot number 0233-0071-0000, located in the Single Residence B (SRB) 
zoning district. The applicant has provided preliminary documentary support for his request. 
Additional research will be required to verify the documentary record. 

RSA 674:39-aa requires the City Council to vote to restore “to their premerger status” any lots 
or parcels that were “involuntarily merged” by municipal action for zoning, assessing, or 
taxation purposes without the consent of the owner. Unlike all other lot divisions, there is no 
statutory role for the Planning Board in this process nor is there any requirement for the City 
to hold a public hearing. However, in Portsmouth, the City Council has historically referred 
such requests to the Planning Board to conduct a public hearing. 

 



CM Comment 3_3_2025 

Page | 3  
 
 

The statute defines “voluntary merger” and “voluntarily merged” to include “any overt action 
or conduct that indicates an owner regarded said lots as merged such as, but not limited to, 
abandoning a lot line.” (RSA 674:39-aa, I) It is therefore the City Council’s responsibility to 
determine whether a merger was voluntary (i.e., requested by a lot owner) or involuntary 
(implemented by the City without the owner’s consent). If the merger was involuntary, the 
Council must vote to restore the lots to their premerger status. Following such a vote, the City 
GIS and Assessing staff will update zoning and tax maps accordingly. It will then be up to the 
owner to take any further action to confirm the restoration to premerger status, such as 
recording a plan at the Registry of Deeds. 

It is important to note that the granting of a request to restore lots to their premerger status does 
not mean that the resulting lots will be buildable or, if already developed, will conform to 
zoning. The statute states that “the restoration of the lots to their premerger status shall not be 
deemed to cure any non-conformity with existing land use ordinances.” (RSA 674:39-aa, V) 

For example, the restored lots may not comply with current zoning requirements for lot area, 
frontage and depth, and the re-establishment of a lot line between any two pre-merger lots may 
introduce a new nonconformity with respect to maximum allowed building coverage or a 
minimum required side yard where a building already exists on one of the premerger lots. In 
such cases, the owner(s) of the applicable lot(s) would have to apply to the Zoning Board of 
Adjustment for the necessary variances to restore zoning compliance or to allow future 
development. 

I recommend that the City Council move to refer this request to the Planning Board and the 
City Assessor for a report back. 

2. License Extension for 50 South School Street: 

DeGeorge Home Improvements, LLC (“Licensee”) is making improvements to property 
owned by Philip L. and Tamara A. Schwartz, located at 50 South School Street, Unit 3, 
Portsmouth, NH, shown on the City of Portsmouth Assessor’s Map as Tax Map 101, Lot 60 
(“Property”). The Licensee is remodeling the “Property” and has requested to locate a 
dumpster in a parking space located across the street at the end of the parking lot that abuts the 
South School Street Playground. The Licensee has an existing License for use of the dumpster 
that expires on March 3, 2025. The License Area is 115 square feet and is depicted in Exhibit 
A attached to the License. The Licensee has requested an extension to continue to use the 
dumpster from March 4, 2025 through May 2, 2025, for a total of 60 days. Completion of the 
job was delayed due to late receipt of construction materials. 

Encumbrances for longer than 30 days are subject to the City Council’s policy entitled 
“License Fee for Encumbrance of City Property.” Under this policy, a daily fee of $0.05 per 
square foot of encumbered City property would be assessed for 115 square feet for a daily fee 
of $5.75 x 60 days for a total license fee of $345. 

 



CM Comment 3_3_2025 

Page | 4  
 
 

The Legal, Planning and Public Works Departments have reviewed and approved the form of 
the attached license. 

If the Council agrees to grant this License Extension to encumber a parking space in the parking 
lot that abuts the South School Street Park for construction associated with property located at 
50 South School Street, an appropriate motion would be: 

Move that the City Manager be authorized to execute and accept the License Extension to 
encumber a parking space in the parking lot that abuts the South School Street Park as 
requested. 

X V I I .  C i t y  M a n a g e r ’ s  I n f o r m a t i o n a l  I t e m s :  

1. Public Meeting for Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan: 

In 2014, the City completed the Portsmouth Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan as a comprehensive 
strategy to make bicycling and walking safe, comfortable, and convenient for people of all ages 
and abilities. The City has made great progress implementing the recommendations of the plan 
and building the City's network over the past 10 years, working toward the vision and 
commitment of the City to increase walking and bicycling. As the current state of practice has 
evolved, a comprehensive update to the plan is being conducted to document the status of 
implementation and to provide opportunities for the community to offer input into necessary 
updates for future improvements.  

The 2024-2025 plan update will be a tool for coordinating City-wide projects, policies, and 
programs related to active transportation. The updated plan will be used to evaluate and 
measure progress towards implementing bicycle and pedestrian amenities and help to guide 
capital investments, while identifying additional funding options. 

A public meeting is scheduled for March 10, 2025 at 6:30 p.m. in the City Council Chambers 
to review public engagement input received from the planning process and to review the draft 
plan recommendations. The plan will be finalized for adoption subsequent to this final public 
meeting and all interested parties are invited to attend. Meeting details and draft plan 
recommendations will be posted to the project website. 

2. Delayed Opening – Customer Service Pilot Program: 

In an effort to provide uninterrupted time for meeting and training, we will delay the public 
opening of the City Clerk’s Office, the Tax Office and the Assessing Office from 8:00 a.m. 
until 10:00 a.m. on the following Wednesdays in March: 12th, 19th, and 26th. The City Clerk’s 
office, for example, has been trying to manage its workload following four elections in 2024 
and short-staffing. The State Office of Vital Records delays its opening once a month on 
Wednesdays for similar work and technical updates. The Tax Office has been engaged in 
looking for additional opportunities to work more effectively with other departments, such as 
Parking and Water and Sewer billing, and is involved in the evaluation of the new financial 

https://www.portsmouthnh.gov/planportsmouth/bicycle-pedestrian-plan


CM Comment 3_3_2025 

Page | 5  
 
 

software solution. The City will provide notice of these delayed openings to the public through 
multiple channels. 

3. 2025 Outdoor Dining Update: 

I will provide a verbal update on the status of the 2025 outdoor dining season. 





































TO:   CITY COUNCIL 

FROM: Louis DeGeorge, DeGeorge Home Improvements 

SUBJECT : 50 South School Street Unit #3, Portsmouth , MA 

 Permit/Licences 

We are currently remodeling a Unit at 50 South School Unit #3, in Portsmouth, NH. We have a 
license for a dumpster at the above location that expires on March 3, 2025.  We are requesting an 
extension of the license through May 2, 2025. We experienced a delay in receiving materials which 
caused us to not be able to finish the job by the initial date. Thank you for your help and 
consideration.    

Thank  you, 

LOUIS DEGEORGE 
DeGeorge Home Improvements LLC 
Cell:617-901-1414 
www.degeorgehomeimprovements.com 

WE ARE A PROUD PARTNER WITH 

DeGeorge Home Improvements is a registered business of  

NEW HAMPSHIRE: Registered Office 84 W BROADWAY , STE 200 Derry NH 03038 . 



City of Portsmouth, NH October 17, 2024

Dumpst er locati on

MAP FOR REFERENCE ONLY
NOT A LEGAL DOCUMENT

City of Portsmouth, NH makes no claims and no warranties,
expressed or implied, concerning the validity or accuracy of
the GIS data presented on this map.

Geometry updated 09/26/2024

Print map scale is approximate.
Critical layout or measurement
activities should not be done using
this resource.

1" = 68.10685739392794 ft



  

LICENSE EXTENSION 
50 SOUTH SCHOOL STREET  

 
 

 The City of Portsmouth (hereinafter "City"), a municipal corporation with a 

principal place of business of 1 Junkins Avenue, Portsmouth, New Hampshire 03801, 

for good and valuable consideration as set forth herein, hereby grants this License 

Extension to DeGeorge Home Improvements, LLC., (‘Licensee’) with a mailing address 

of P.O. Box 238, Unit 33, Georgetown MA, 01833-0338, on behalf of Owners Philip L. 

and Tamara A. Schwartz, 50 South School Street, Unit 3, Portsmouth, NH 03801 

(“Owner”) pursuant to the following terms and conditions: 

1. License Area:  The Owner owns a condominium located in the City of 
Portsmouth, Rockingham County, State of New Hampshire, located at 50 
South School Street, Unit 3, Portsmouth, NH 03801 shown on the City of 
Portsmouth’s Assessor’s Map as Tax Map 101, Lot 60 (“Property”). For 
the Owner’s title to the Property, see Rockingham County Registry of 
Deeds at Book 6504, Page 0447. 
 
The City issued a License for Licensee to locate a dumpster across the 
street from the Property in a parking space that abuts the South School 
Street Park more particularly described in the attached Exhibit A.  

 
2. Use:  Licensee shall make use of the License Area for the purpose of 

locating a dumpster to facilitate the remodeling of the Property. The 
Licensee has an existing License for this dumpster that expires on March 
3, 2025. Licensee is seeking this License Extension because receipt of the 
materials for the remodeling work were delayed and the job will not be 
completed by the termination date of the existing License. 
 

3. Term: The License for the License Area shall be for 60 days beginning 
March 4, 2025 and ending May 2, 2025. 
 
Licensee may terminate this License prior to the end of the term by 
returning License Area to safe and effective use by the public prior to the 
expiration of the term of this License. The Licensee shall contact the 
Director of Public Works for a determination that the License Area has 
been temporarily returned to safe and effective use.  Failure to remove all 
vehicles, barriers, materials and equipment and to return the License Area 
to the City in the manner prescribed under this License at the end of the 
term may result in enforcement action by the City.  
 

 



 

4. Notice: Licensee shall provide notice to the City’s Director of Public 
Works when Licensee assumes control and use of the License Area and 
again when it returns the License Area to the City’s control and use. 

 
5. License Fees: The Licensee shall pay to the City License fees in 

accordance with City Council Policy No. 2018-02 entitled “License Fee for 
Encumbrance of City Property”. The License Fee Policy provides that the 
Owner will be charged a daily fee of $0.05 per square foot for use of a 
parking space in the parking lot of the South School Street Park. 

 
The License Area includes 115 square feet. The fee of $0.05 per 
115 square feet per day is $5.75. The total fee for 60 days is $345.  

 
The total License Fee for the License Area in the amount of $345 shall be 
paid in full to the City in advance of the commencement of the term of this 
Agreement.  
 
Because it is in the City’s interest that the License Area be returned to the 
public use as soon as possible, if the License Area is returned to the City 
prior to the end of the License Term, the City will refund the Owner the 
portion of the License Fee paid but not used by the Owner. 
 

6. Indemnification:  Licensee agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the 
City of Portsmouth for any and all property damage, bodily injury or 
personal injury which arises as a result of its utilization of the License 
Area. This obligation survives termination or revocation of this Agreement.  

 
7. Insurance: At all times the Licensee shall maintain insurance for bodily 

injury and property damage in the amount of at least $1,000,000 per 
occurrence.  Licensee will provide proof of insurance to the City during the 
term of this Agreement and the City will be named as an additional 
insured. 

 
8. Maintenance of Area: During the term of this Agreement, Licensee shall 

maintain the License Area in a safe, neat and orderly fashion and shall 
take such actions as are necessary to protect the public safety. The 
Licensee shall secure the perimeter of the License Area and take such 
other measures as may be necessary for pedestrian and vehicular safety 
during use of the License Area.  
 
Owner is required to apply for separate Flagging Permits that are outside 
the scope of this License when closing roads that abut the Property or its 
environs and shall advise abutters of all Flagging Permit applications in 
advance.  
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

9. Damage: Licensee agrees to remedy any damage to the License Area 
caused by the Licensee’s activities.  The work will be performed by 
Licensee to City specifications and survive the terms of this License 
Agreement. The City may elect to accept reasonable reimbursement from 
the Licensee in lieu of remedy.    

 
10. Compliance with Other Laws:  This Agreement does not relieve 

Licensee from compliance with any other local, state or federal laws or 
regulations or conditions imposed by any local board. Failure to abide by 
any local, state or federal laws or regulations or any site plan conditions 
may, at the City’s discretion, result in revocation. 

 
11. Revocation:  The City may terminate this Agreement, or any provision 

contained in this Agreement on 72 hours written notice if Licensee fails to 
meet the terms and conditions of this License or if the public interest 
requires such termination. No 72-hour written notification is required by 
the City if it is an emergency. 

 
12. Contractor and Subcontractor Parking:  Licensee understands and 

agrees that its contractors and subcontractors for the project shall not use 
on-street parking. Language will be inserted in Licensee’s vendors and 
suppliers Purchase Orders and Trade Subcontracts that make the 
prohibition against parking on City streets mandatory. Contractors shall 
limit/ manage construction vehicles and deliveries to avoid disruption to 
businesses, particularly during the holiday season.  Contractor may use 
loading zones for active loading and unloading of materials, equipment 
and tools. 

 
Dated this    day of     , 2025. 

 
 The City of Portsmouth 

 
 By:       

     Karen Conard 
     City Manager 

 

     Pursuant to vote of the City Council      
     of _____________________. 

 
Dated this    day of     , 2025. 
 
 

DeGeorge Home Improvements, LLC 
       
By:       

       
               

                       
h/jferrini/licenseextension/50southschoolstreet 
 











 
 
Seacoast Lacrosse Club 
PO Box 1540 
Portsmouth, NH 03801 
SeacoastLacrosse.org   
 

February 24, 2025 
 

RE: Temporary Signage at Portsmouth Recreation Athletic Field 
 
Karen Conard 
City Manager 
City of Portsmouth 
1 Junkins Ave 
Portsmouth, NH 03801 
 
Dear Ms. Conard, 
 
Seacoast Lacrosse Club, Inc. (Seacoast Lacrosse) respectfully requests permission to exhibit 
temporary signage on the fences at the Portsmouth Recreation Athletic Field for the spring 2025 
lacrosse season.   
 
Seacoast Lacrosse is an independent, all volunteer, non-profit organization committed to 
providing a high-quality youth lacrosse program for players aged 6-15 years old who reside 
within the Portsmouth, NH High School Administrative Unit (SAU 50 & 52; Portsmouth, 
Greenland, Newington, Rye, New Castle). We are dedicated to the instruction of lacrosse, 
teamwork, sportsmanship, and competition in a safe and respectful environment, while 
promoting personal responsibility, and offering participants an opportunity to enjoy all that is 
best about youth sports. Seacoast Lacrosse is grateful for the City of Portsmouth’s support. The 
Athletic Field at 100 Campus Drive in Portsmouth is an amazing facility used by thousands of 
local young athletes each year. We deeply appreciate use of the Athletic Field as our program’s 
home turf.   
 
Seacoast Lacrosse seeks authorization to affix and display banners on the fences at the Athletic 
Field in the same manner that we did during the 2024 season. Last year’s banners were a huge 
success with our sponsors and allowed us to raise over $3,000 for our program.  The banners 
this year would be advertisements for local businesses that have donated to the program, and 
contributions will be used to support the mission of Seacoast Lacrosse.  We respectfully request 
permission to display the signs from approximately March 20, 2024 to June 30, 2024; roughly 
the beginning of practices to the end of the season. I’ve included photos of last year’s banners 
below.   

http://seacoastlacrosse.org/


 
 
 

 
 

 
 
In the past 25+ years, Seacoast Lacrosse has grown from an experimental backyard activity to a 
program with over 300 participants per season that competes in local and statewide leagues. 
With the City’s support, we have built a quality program that helps develop healthy and strong 
young people for our community and skilled athletes for our successful High School teams. 
Seacoast Lacrosse is committed to providing a safe and inclusive activity for local youth. The 
City’s assistance in pursuing our mission and goals is much appreciated.    
 
Please let us know if any additional information would assist your consideration of our request. 
We appreciate your time and attention.  
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Warren Widener 
President, Board Chair 
Seacoast Lacrosse Club 
PO Box 1540 
Portsmouth, NH 03801 
(415) 283-5015 
Warren.Widener@SeacoastLacrosse.org  
SeacoastLacrosse.org  

mailto:Warren.Widener@SeacoastLacrosse.org
http://seacoastlacrosse.org/


Kate Moran 
Campaign Development Specialist 
Leukemia & Lymphoma Society 
70 Walnut Street, Suite 301 
Wellesley, MA 02481 
Kate.moran@lls.org 
440-409-8334 

02.07.2025 
The Honorable Deaglan McEachern 
Mayor of Portsmouth 
1 Junkins Avenue 
Portsmouth, NH 03801 

Dear Mayor McEachern and Members of the City Council, 

I hope this letter finds you well. I am writing on behalf of the Leukemia & Lymphoma Society (LLS) to 
formally request permission to host our annual Light The Night (LTN) event in Portsmouth, NH. In 
the past, we have hosted this event at Little Harbour Elementary School, but this year, we are 
excited to explore other possible venues, such as South Mill Pond Recreation Area, to create an 
inspiring and supportive environment for our community while advancing LLS’s mission. 

Event Details: 

• Event Name: Light The Night 

• Date: Saturday, October 4, 2025 

• Time: 5:00 PM – 8:00 PM 

• Location: South Mill Pond Recreation Area 

• Duration: 3 hours 

Participant Expectations: 
We anticipate welcoming over 200 participants, including families, local businesses, and 
community leaders. Each participant will receive a battery-powered lantern to illuminate the 
evening in a symbolic display of hope and support. 

Mission: 
Our mission is to cure leukemia, lymphoma, Hodgkin's disease, and myeloma and improve the 
quality of life of patients and their families. Light The Night aims to: 

• Raise awareness and critical funds for blood cancer research and patient services. 

• Foster a sense of community and solidarity. 

• Provide a platform for survivors, patients, and their families to share their stories and find 
support. 

Event Activities: 



• Entertainment: Music, a remembrance pavilion, sponsor tents, blood cancer resources, 
food vendors, and family-friendly activities. 

• Ceremony: A moving program led by a community volunteer leader, featuring our honored 
hero and lantern holders. Lantern colors represent different experiences: white for 
survivors, gold in remembrance, and red for supporters. The event culminates in a collective 
lantern lighting and a short walk symbolizing our united fight against blood cancer.  

• Walk: A peaceful, illuminated walk of approximately one mile through the park.  

Logistics and Safety: 
We are coordinating with local law enforcement and emergency services to ensure a safe and 
secure experience for all attendees. Trained volunteers will be stationed throughout the event 
space to guide and assist participants. 

Request for Approval: 
We respectfully request approval from the Mayor and City Council to host this impactful event at 
South Mill Pond Recreation Area on Saturday, October 4, 2025. This event will strengthen our 
community’s commitment to supporting blood cancer patients and their families while fostering 
unity and hope. 

Please feel free to contact me at 440-409-8334 or Kate.moran@lls.org with any questions or 
additional requirements. 

Thank you for your time and consideration. We appreciate your support and look forward to bringing 
Light The Night to Portsmouth once again. 

Warmest regards, 

 

Kate Moran 
Campaign Development Specialist 
Leukemia & Lymphoma Society 

 



Phillip V. Boisvert 
Second Director 

New Hampshire Water Pollution Control Association 
10 Tower Office Park 

Woburn, MA 01801 
 
February 21, 2025 
 
City of Portsmouth, New Hampshire 
Mayor McEachern and City Council 
 
Subject: NHWPCA 5K Event 
 
Dear Honorable Mayor and City Council, 

On behalf of the New Hampshire Water Pollution Control Association (NHWPCA), I am writing to formally 
request access to Pease Development Authority property for the purpose of hosting our 5K event. 

NHWPCA has been a dedicated collective of environmental and public health stewards for nearly 60 
years, committed to protecting and improving water quality throughout New Hampshire. This first, of 
what hopes to become an annual 5K, brings together professionals, advocates, and community 
members to promote awareness of water pollution control while encouraging public engagement in 
environmental stewardship. 

We kindly request permission to use the route outlined on the Pease Development Authority property on 
October 11th for this event. The race start time would be 9:00am with registration/bib pick up starting 
approximately 90 minutes before. The last runner/walker to be vacated before 11:00am. We will ensure 
compliance with all necessary safety, logistical, and city regulations, and we are happy to coordinate with 
the appropriate personnel to meet any requirements set forth by the Authority. The NHWPCA will be 
partnering with Millenium Running for registration of participants and time keeping purposes only.  

https://www.mapmyrun.com/routes/view/6427527313/  

Please let us know if there are any forms, permits, or additional information needed to facilitate this 
request. We appreciate your consideration and look forward to the opportunity to collaborate with Pease 
Development Authority for this meaningful event. 

Thank you for your time and assistance. Please feel free to contact me at your convenience to discuss 
further details. 

Sincerely, 

Phillip V. Boisvert 
Second Director 
New Hampshire Water Pollution Control Association 
10 Tower Office Park 
Woburn, MA 01801 
pvboisvert@portsmouthnh.gov 
603-957-8977 

https://www.mapmyrun.com/routes/view/6427527313/


 

 



 
 

The Gundalow Company is a non-profit charitable organization under IRS Sec. 501(c)(3) with Tax ID # 02-0598530 

 

 
 
 

 

 
Board of Directors                            

Jeffrey Binder 
David Carlson 
Janet Dinan                                          
Peter Driscoll 
Brendan Flavin                     
Kerry Houlihan 
Jeffrey Hughes 
Jo Ann Klatskin 
John Lamson 
Jeff Musk 
Jeff Nahas 
Catharine Newick                                                             
George Samuels                                          
 

Staff    

Rich Clyborne 
Executive Director  

Amanda Komarek 
Program Manager 
 
Dani Bailey 
Program Assistant 

Matt Glenn 
Captain 

Andy Goodell 
Operations Manager 
 
Jo Maden 
Event Coordinator 

Michele Lechner 
Accountant 

Donata Luz 
Development Coordinator 
 
 
 
 
 
www.gundalow.org 
info@gundalow.org 
(603) 433-9505 
60 Marcy St. 
Portsmouth, NH 03801  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
20 February 2025 
 
To Whom it May Concern, 
 
We are requesting permission to conduct our 2025 Round Island Regatta event on 
Saturday 09 August at the Peirce Island Boat Ramp area from 10:00 PM to 3:00 
PM.  This event will be similar in scope to events held in previous years. 
 
Thank you in advance for your consideration in this matter.  Please feel free to 
contact me at the number below or reach out via email: director@gundalow.org.  
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Rich Clyborne 
Executive Director 
 
 
 

 

 



City Council Emails – February 13, 2025 – February 26, 2025 

 

Submitted on Fri, 02/21/2025 - 08:20 

Submitted by: Anonymous 

Submitted values are: 

First Name 
William  
 
Last Name 
Davis  
 
Email 
billdavis13@yahoo.com 
 
Address 
339 Bartlett Street 
Portsmouth, New Hampshire. 03801 
 
Message 
Members of the Portsmouth City Council, 
 
As a resident of the Bartlett Street corridor, I am very appreciative of the sometimes laborious, but 
so far successful, progress in upgrading our street and its safety. The project has improved 
pedestrian navigability and helped moderate the irresponsible operation of some motorists; we 
look forward to increased safety benefits from the spring installation of the raised crosswalk 
adjacent to the playground at Pine Street as well as the raised intersection at Thornton Street. 
These initiatives are helping to balance the multiple roles that the Creek neighborhood serves to all 
of Portsmouth's citizens and visitors.  
 
My thanks to the City's engineering staff, the contractor personnel and others involved in this 
project for their patience, persistence, and diligence in managing a complex set of variables over 
many years. 
 
Thank you, 
 
Bill Davis 
339 Bartlett Street 
 
Please indicate if you would like your comment to be part of the public record for the 
upcoming City Council meeting. 
Yes 
 

mailto:billdavis13@yahoo.com


Submitted on Fri, 02/21/2025 - 10:38 

Submitted by: Anonymous 

Submitted values are: 

First Name 
Gwen  
 
Last Name 
Guillet 
 
Email 
gwenguil@gmail.com 
 
Address 
130 Dennett St Unit 1 
Portsmouth, New Hampshire. 03801 
 
Message 
Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council, 
 
As a retired resident of Portsmouth and a long-time member of this community, I am writing to 
express my strong support for the proposed school budget and my deep concern regarding the City 
Council’s proposed decrease. While I understand the need for fiscal responsibility, I believe that 
cutting funding for our schools is a short-sighted decision that will have long-lasting negative 
consequences for our community. 
 
I may no longer have children in the school system, but I understand that a strong public education 
system benefits everyone, regardless of age. Our schools are the heart of our community, shaping 
the future of our town and the lives of our young people. They provide not only academic instruction 
but also essential social and emotional development, preparing our children to become 
responsible and productive citizens. 
 
I’ve witnessed firsthand the positive impact our schools have had on generations of students. I’ve 
seen the dedication of our teachers and staff, and I’ve seen the remarkable achievements of our 
students. The proposed budget, as I understand it, represents the necessary resources to maintain 
this level of excellence. Cutting these funds would jeopardize the quality of education our children 
receive and undermine the hard work of our educators. 
 
I am particularly concerned about the potential impact of these cuts on special education and 
mental health/counseling services. These are not just line items in a budget; they represent real 
opportunities for our children to learn, grow, and thrive. 
 
I urge the City Council to reconsider its position and restore the proposed funding for our schools. 
Investing in our children’s education is not an expenditure; it is an investment in the future of our 
community. It is an investment that will pay dividends for generations to come. Please prioritize our 

mailto:gwenguil@gmail.com


children’s future and support the proposed school budget. 
 
Sincerely, 
Gwen Guillet 
 
Please indicate if you would like your comment to be part of the public record for the 
upcoming City Council meeting. 
Yes 
 

 

 
 
 Submitted on Sun, 02/23/2025 - 20:35 

Submitted by: Anonymous 

Submitted values are: 

First Name 
Peter 
 
Last Name 
Somssich  
 
Email 
peter.somssich@gmail.com 
 
Address 
34 Swett Ave. 
Portsmouth, New Hampshire. 03801 
 
Message 
I am in complete opposition to any cuts in the propsed Portsmouth School Budget which would  
result in serious reductions in the school staff.  
 
Please indicate if you would like your comment to be part of the public record for the 
upcoming City Council meeting. 
Yes 
 
  

 

Submitted on Wed, 02/26/2025 - 07:22 

Submitted by: Anonymous 

Submitted values are: 

mailto:peter.somssich@gmail.com


First Name 
Scott 
 
Last Name 
Fales 
 
Email 
sfales@hotmail.com 
 
Address 
151 Aldrich Road 
Portsmouth, New Hampshire. 03801 
 
Message 
Dear Portsmouth City Council Members, 
I urge you to take immediate action to clear snow from crosswalks throughout our city. Unimpeded 
pedestrian access is crucial for the safety of all pedestrians. Snow-covered crosswalks force 
people into busy streets, increasing the risk of accidents. Prioritizing snow removal at crosswalks, 
is not just a convenience, but a necessity for public safety. I have generated several “Click Fix” 
requests to the DPW to no avail. 
Sincerely, 
Scott Fales 
151 Aldrich Road 
 
Please indicate if you would like your comment to be part of the public record for the 
upcoming City Council meeting. 
Yes 
 
  

 

Submitted on Wed, 02/26/2025 - 16:45 

Submitted by: Anonymous 

Submitted values are: 

First Name 
Ryan 
 
Last Name 
Lewis 
 
Email 
RLEWIS@tuscanbrands.com 
 
Address 

mailto:sfales@hotmail.com
mailto:RLEWIS@tuscanbrands.com


14 MARKET SQ, TUSCAN MARKET, TUSCAN MARKET 
PORTSMOUTH, New Hampshire. 03801 
 
Message 
I would like to know if there is a hearing scheduled regarding changes to the outdoor dining season 
for 2025. I would like to attend, and be afforded an opportunity for input if at all possible. My major 
concern is the curtailing of the season in recent years, with no apparent justification 
 
Thank you 
 
 
Ryan Lewis 
General Manage 
Napoletana Pizzeria and Bar 
 
Please indicate if you would like your comment to be part of the public record for the 
upcoming City Council meeting. 
Yes 
 
  

 

 

 

 



Fee Committee report to the Portsmouth City Council 

 

Meeting of February 13, 2025 

 

The Fee Committee met and approved 41 fee adjustments out of the more than 100 city fees. 
These fees comprise 2% of General Fund Revenue. By state law, fees can only be applied to 
cover the cost of providing the service charged. 

Some highlights 

• A $150 fee to process ADU applications under the new streamlined process 
• A monthly credit card option for the Indoor Pool and Spinnaker Point 
• The committee rejected a doubling of fees to $300 to remove a boot or impoundment of a 

vehicle for not paying violations. The committee felt this was excessive. 

 

Café tables and chairs 

The city’s Sidewalk Obstruction ordinance under Chapter 9, Article V, Section 504C has charged 
$75 for tables on the sidewalk and $10 per chair. The City Council recently waived fees on such 
tables and chairs at The Hearth, creating inconsistency. The Governance Committee split on 
whether to follow this precedent. One side felt the fees were fair for all and should be charged to 
all; another side felt waiving fees encouraged sidewalk tables for more of the public to use and 
created a more vibrant downtown. This question will also recur as more downtown developments 
require public space. Proponents of waving the fee said this would encourage more seating on 
those spaces. 

The Fee Committee weighed both sides. Revenue at risk is about $8,500 per year according to 
staff. The Fee Committee voted to waive the fees for FY26, so long as such tables and chairs are 
open to use by anyone. A permit application is still required.  

Because the permits for these tables and chairs go live on the city’s online permit portal in April, 
the change can’t wait for the fee schedule to be voted on in June when the budget is approved. 
After discussion, the Governance Committee recommended Council approval now. Hence a 
motion: 

Sample motion: Move to eliminate the $75 table fee and $10 chair fee under the Sidewalk 
Obstruction ordinance Chapter 9, Article V, Section 504C so long as the tables and chairs are 
open to general use, not just patrons of the business seeking the permit. 

- John Tabor, 2/25/25 



To: Mayor McEachern, Assistant Mayor Kelley, Councilors Cook, Denton, Bagley, Blalock, 
Moreau and Lombardi 

Cc: City Manager Conard, Planning and Sustainability Director Peter Britz, City Attorney Susan 
Morrell 

From: Councilor Tabor        2/25/25 

Re: Motion to Approve Payment in Lieu Fees

 

The Gateway Neighborhood Overlay District included a “Payment in Lieu” as one of three paths 
to a density bonus. Alternatively, a developer could include below-market rate units in his project 
per ordinance or transfer land to the city. 

The city has never had a “payment in lieu” option in any of its ordinances, so it’s necessary to 
create a way to do this to fulfill the GNOD ordinance. 

The fees a developer pays to get his density bonus would go to the city’s Housing Trust Fund. 
The Trust Fund’s mission is to leverage funds to preserve and expand below market housing.  (A 
revised Housing Trust Fund document has been drafted and is coming to the council). 

The Housing Committee discussed the various methods to determine a fee, researched use cases 
in Massachusetts and Maine, and recommended the Value Gap method, which calculates the 
difference between market and below market rates and applies a "capitalization rate" to convert 
that into a unit cost. 

RKG, the city's consultant, calculated a table by studying rents and purchase prices in the city 
and determining a cap rate. The values need to be refreshed next year and every two years 
afterwards. 

The Housing Committee voted to recommend approval of such a framework by the council in a 
unanimous vote February 13, and to also specify the fees go into the Housing Trust Fund. In 
addition to fulfilling the ordinance requirements, this mechanism creates a prototype/pilot of a 
new tool to fund below market rate housing in or out of the GNOD. 

Sample motion: Move to approve the Payment in Lieu fee table recommended by the Housing 
Committee as shown in the packet, subject to update next year and every two years after that by 
the Fee Committee or City Council. Proceeds paid will go to the city’s Housing Trust Fund for 
the purpose of creating and preserving below market rate housing in Portsmouth.  



Aaron Shroyer 

May 2020 

Inclusionary zoning policies are an increasingly popular tool for addressing affordable housing 

challenges, with many cities and counties adopting such policies since 2000 (Thaden and Wang 2017). 

But the structure and features of these policies vary. Research suggests that the features of 

inclusionary zoning matter and need to be tailored to local market conditions (Ramakrishnan, Treskon, 

and Greene 2019; Schuetz, Meltzer, and Been 2008). 

Inclusionary zoning encourages or requires developers who are creating market-rate housing to set 

aside a percentage of the housing to be sold or rented at below-market rates. One common feature of 

inclusionary zoning policies is “in-lieu fees,” which developers can pay as an alternative to building on-

site affordable units. (In-lieu fees are the most common name for this method of alternative compliance, 

but some jurisdictions might refer to this option as “buy-outs,” “opt-outs,” or “cash contributions.”) In-

lieu fees are among the most hotly debated parts of inclusionary zoning, in part because little research 

exists on the variations in their structure and their advantages and disadvantages. 

This brief has two goals. The first is to help local decisionmakers determine whether to include an 

in-lieu fee option in their inclusionary zoning ordinances. The second is to help local decisionmakers 

understand what variations of in-lieu fees exist and how to structure in-lieu fees. Based on a literature 

review and interviews with local government staff members, developers, nonprofit practitioners, and 

advocates, this brief first provides an overview of the goals of inclusionary zoning and the ways that in-

lieu fees can advance or undermine those goals. It then discusses the methods that jurisdictions use to 

set in-lieu fees and details considerations for jurisdictions when they are setting in-lieu fees. 

R E S E A R C H  T O  A C T I O N  L A B  

Determining In-Lieu Fees 

in Inclusionary Zoning Policies 
Considerations for Local Governments 



 2  D E T E R M I N I N G  I N - L I E U  F E E S  I N  I N C L U S I O N A R Y  Z O N I N G  P O L I C I E S  
 

What Is Inclusionary Zoning? 

As housing costs rise in markets across the country, local decisionmakers are looking for tools that 

create more affordable housing units. Inclusionary zoning enables the delivery of affordable housing in 

cities that have historically high housing costs or where costs are rapidly going up because of 

gentrification and property value increases. Andrew Trueblood, director of the Office of Planning in 

Washington, DC, has said that inclusionary zoning is “not the biggest program that produces affordable 

housing in the city, but it is the biggest program that produces affordable housing in high-cost areas.”1 

Under inclusionary zoning, developers are encouraged or required to set aside a share of the 

market-rate housing they’re creating to be sold or rented at below-market rates.2 Inclusionary zoning 

leverages the private market to create housing units that are affordable to households with lower 

incomes while allowing development projects to produce a return on investment. For that reason, 

inclusionary zoning policies are more effective in areas where more development is occurring.3 

Inclusionary zoning ordinances are popular with policymakers because they create affordable 

housing units with little to no public subsidy.4 A 2016 survey found that 886 jurisdictions in 25 states 

and the District of Columbia have inclusionary zoning programs, although nearly 90 percent of them 

were in New Jersey, Massachusetts, and California (Thaden and Wang 2017). 

Inclusionary zoning often interacts with other tools that jurisdictions use to create affordable 

housing units. Some jurisdictions do not have affordability requirements for all new developments but 

instead require that developers create affordable units in exchange for additional density, requests to 

change the general land use plan, or receipt of public funding.5 For example, a jurisdiction might allow a 

developer to build at increased density in exchange for making a portion of those extra units affordable. 

This is often referred to as voluntary inclusionary zoning. 

Goals and Characteristics of Inclusionary Zoning 

This section provides an overview of inclusionary zoning before detailing how in-lieu fees relate to the 

goals of these policies. 

Goals 

Inclusionary zoning programs typically have three goals. 

The first goal is to create more affordable housing units. By requiring that new developments 

include affordable units, inclusionary zoning policies create more affordable units than the market 

would have created otherwise. In some cases, jurisdictions allow developers to build the units in a 

different location from where the new market-rate units are being created or to buy out their obligation 

by paying “in-lieu” fees into a local affordable housing fund. 



D E T E R M I N I N G  I N - L I E U  F E E S  I N  I N C L U S I O N A R Y  Z O N I N G  P O L I C I E S  3   
 

The second goal is to generate flexible revenue for affordable housing, primarily through in-lieu 

fees. Although revenue that is generated can go toward furthering the first goal of creating more units, 

jurisdictions often use revenue from inclusionary zoning to fund other high-priority housing needs.6 

Interviewees said local resources for housing are increasingly scarce and susceptible to shifts in 

economic conditions and support from local elected officials. In-lieu fees create a dedicated, sustainable 

revenue source for local affordable housing trust funds. The uses of trust fund dollars vary by 

jurisdiction, but they can provide gap financing to produce or rehabilitate affordable housing units and 

fund other housing-related programs like rental assistance and capital improvements.7 

The third goal is to create more mixed-income developments and increase affordable units in 

opportunity-rich neighborhoods. Recent research demonstrates the importance of place for upward 

economic mobility, underscoring the need for policies that address segregation (Chetty, Hendren, and 

Katz 2015; Turner and Gourevitch 2017). Many of the policy levers that enable households to gain 

access to opportunity-rich neighborhoods, such as housing vouchers and fair housing protections, rely 

on the federal government for funding and enforcement. Inclusionary zoning policies are one of the 

main levers that local governments have to create mixed-income developments without additional 

resources. 

Characteristics 

Inclusionary zoning policies can differ by jurisdiction but often share certain features. In most 

jurisdictions with inclusionary zoning, developments that exceed a certain square footage or number of 

units trigger affordability requirements. Inclusionary zoning can apply to both rental and for-sale 

development, as well as to both new construction and renovation. Inclusionary zoning policies often 

mandate that a percentage of units be affordable to households making a certain percentage of area 

median income (AMI). A majority of jurisdictions with inclusionary zoning require that 6 to 15 percent of 

a development’s units be affordable (Thaden and Wang 2017). The income target typically ranges from 

60 to 120 percent of AMI (Williams et al. 2016). Some jurisdictions’ requirements have a sliding scale, 

meaning that developers can include more units affordable to a higher AMI or fewer units affordable to 

a lower AMI.8 However, inclusionary zoning rarely brings rents down to the levels needed by 

households with extremely low incomes, which make less than 30 percent of AMI (Brennan and Greene 

2018). Inclusionary zoning policies also typically require that units be affordable long term, usually for 

30 years or more (Jacobus 2015). 

The affordable units often do not have to be in the same location as the market-rate units. Many 

jurisdictions provide the option to build the prescribed affordable units off-site. Developers either 

provide these off-site units directly by constructing them or indirectly by paying in-lieu fees to local 

housing trust funds. Off-site construction often occurs in neighborhoods where land costs are lower or 

where there is less opposition to new development. Off-site construction provides flexibility to 

developers and can increase the production of affordable housing units (Jacobus 2015). 

Implementation of inclusionary zoning policies—especially those with in-lieu fee options—brings 

trade-offs, and some implementation options may not maximize inclusionary zoning goals. For example, 



 4  D E T E R M I N I N G  I N - L I E U  F E E S  I N  I N C L U S I O N A R Y  Z O N I N G  P O L I C I E S  
 

eliminating the option to pay in-lieu fees could lead to more units being created in hot markets while 

eliminating a key source of funding for local affordable housing programs. On the other hand, units that 

result from in-lieu fees are often in neighborhoods that have relatively few amenities or a concentration 

of affordable housing, which does not promote mixed-income developments (Jacobus 2015; Porter and 

Davison 2009). 

The Role of In-Lieu Fees 

According to the Urban Institute’s National Longitudinal Land Use Survey, approximately two-thirds of 

jurisdictions with inclusionary housing policies have in-lieu fees.9 In-lieu fees can apply to rental or for-

sale developments. In-lieu fees are typically paid into a local affordable housing trust fund. How housing 

trust fund dollars are used often depends on local priorities, but they can go toward housing needs that 

inclusionary zoning would not otherwise meet. This includes building units that are not typically 

supplied by the market, such as those that are larger (“family-sized” units) and those for special needs 

populations (HR&A Advisors 2019) or households with extremely low incomes (Local Government 

Commission, Western Center on Law and Poverty, and California Rural Legal Assistance Foundation 

2018). Revenue from in-lieu fees can vary from hundreds of thousands of dollars over a decade in 

smaller jurisdictions to tens of millions of dollars per decade in larger jurisdictions (Porter and Davison 

2009). 

Based on the goals of their inclusionary zoning policy, local decisionmakers must choose whether to 

allow in-lieu fees as a method of alternative compliance. If they opt to include in-lieu fees, they must set 

the in-lieu fees in such a way that furthers the goals of their inclusionary zoning policy. In the following 

section, we highlight the main arguments for and against in-lieu fees and discuss how jurisdictions 

calculate in-lieu fees. 

Arguments for and against In-Lieu Fees 

Although in-lieu fees are common features of inclusionary zoning policies, not all local advocates, 

practitioners, and decisionmakers are in favor of them (table 1). Proponents of in-lieu fees tout their 

importance as a flexible funding source, especially considering that federal funding for rental assistance 

has decreased in recent years. For example, the Town of Chapel Hill, North Carolina, uses its in-lieu fees 

for constructing or rehabilitating housing units; assisting residents with rent, mortgage, or utility 

payments; and providing local matches to federal affordable housing grants.10 Often, in-lieu fees are the 

major source of funding for local affordable housing trust funds. For example, in-lieu fees are the only 

source of revenue for the Chicago Low-Income Housing Trust Fund, which provides rental assistance to 

more than 2,000 households making under 30 percent of AMI.11 In-lieu fees are also an important 

source of funding for affordable housing developers. And jurisdictions use the trust funds to leverage 

other funding sources, such as the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (California Coalition for Rural 

Housing and the Non-Profit Housing Association of Northern California 2004). Some jurisdictions, 

including Arlington County, Virginia, report that in-lieu contributions have enabled them to build more 

units than would have resulted from on-site construction (Arlington County 2015). 



D E T E R M I N I N G  I N - L I E U  F E E S  I N  I N C L U S I O N A R Y  Z O N I N G  P O L I C I E S  5   
 

In-lieu fees can also lead to a more streamlined development process. The option to pay in-lieu fees 

makes the development process faster and more predictable for developers. That is, developers can pay 

into a fund and proceed with construction instead of going through the potentially time-intensive 

community vetting process that is often associated with producing affordable units within market-rate 

projects (Porter and Davison 2009). 

In-lieu fees can also promote discussion of local affordable housing policies. Based on interviews, 

staff in local housing and planning departments say that project-specific discussions around in-lieu fees 

allow them to have deliberate conversations with developers about affordable housing. As a result, 

developers better understand the jurisdiction’s affordable housing goals and how their projects relate 

to those goals. In addition, these staff get a better perspective on the factors that developers weigh 

when deciding whether to build affordable units on site or to pursue alternative compliance options. 

TABLE 1 

Advantages and Disadvantages of In-Lieu Fees 

Advantages Disadvantages 
 Create mechanism to fund housing units that 

inclusionary policies do not produce (e.g., units for 
households with extremely low incomes) or fund 
other local housing priorities 

 Provide leverage for other funding sources 
 Increase flexibility for developers, particularly for 

smaller developments 
 Make development process more predictable 
 Provide important source of funding for nonprofit 

developers 

 May result in fewer on-site units and less mixed-
income development 

 Could lead to construction activity that reinforces 
patterns of segregation 

 May result in on- or off-site units that are of lower 
quality 

In-lieu fees also have their detractors, however. Critics see them as a loophole that allows 

developers to avoid contributing on-site units.12 If in-lieu fees are set below the cost of on-site 

construction, for instance, developers will pay the fee instead of building new units. Although a low in-

lieu fee might be the result of an obsolete formula or of developer influence in the legislative process, 

jurisdictions may have legitimate reasons to intentionally set a low fee. For example, if a jurisdiction’s 

goal is to create flexible revenue sources for affordable housing, it might set a low in-lieu fee that would 

help seed those funds.13 But in-lieu fees may undermine a jurisdiction’s inclusionary zoning policy if the 

primary goal is to create mixed-income developments. And the units that are eventually created from 

in-lieu fees might be of lower quality or built in lower-cost neighborhoods, which could reinforce 

historic patterns of segregation. 

Calculating In-Lieu Fees 

For jurisdictions with in-lieu fees, creating the in-lieu formula is the most important component of their 

policy. In theory, the in-lieu fee should be similar to the cost of producing a unit on site, but the in-lieu 

fee is typically lower than that (California Coalition for Rural Housing and the Non-Profit Housing 

Association of Northern California 2004). A formula that results in fees that are too high or too low can 



 6  D E T E R M I N I N G  I N - L I E U  F E E S  I N  I N C L U S I O N A R Y  Z O N I N G  P O L I C I E S  
 

distort the market, affect developers’ decisions, and ultimately affect where and how much affordable 

housing is built. But in-lieu fee formulas are tricky to set. They must weigh numerous factors, including 

real estate market trends, construction financing, and the need for affordable housing at various income 

levels. 

Three main methods are used to calculate in-lieu fees: the affordability gap method, the production 

cost method, and indexed fees based on project characteristics. These methods can apply to both rental 

and for-sale units. The section below highlights these methods. 

Affordability Gap Method 

In this approach, the in-lieu fee is the difference between the fair market price and what a low- or 

moderate-income household can afford (MAPC 2018). The gap is calculated per unit. For example, the 

calculation subtracts the maximum housing expense of an affordable unit from the market rent of an 

equivalent unit. To get the total amount, the per unit figure is multiplied by the number of affordable 

units that a developer would have been required to build. Some calculations also divide the difference 

by the current market capitalization rate, which measures the rate of return on total capital invested 

and is used to derive a present-day asset value (David Paul Rosen & Associates 2018).14 

This method relies on the availability of local data. For example, jurisdictions often have access to 

data on market-rate sales or rental prices. Local jurisdictions also have data on affordable rents by AMI 

through local sources or the US Department of Housing and Urban Development.15 Where data are 

available, some jurisdictions adjust the fee based on the development’s neighborhood or submarket 

(Porter and Davison 2009). Examples of jurisdictions that use this method include the City of Santa Fe, 

New Mexico, and the City of Santa Barbara, California.16 

Production Cost Method 

The affordability gap method represents the market-rate developer’s perspective, while the production 

cost method represents the nonprofit developer’s perspective.17 With the production cost method, the 

in-lieu fee is the difference between the cost of developing a comparable affordable unit and the income 

generated by an affordable unit. As with the affordability gap model, the per unit fee is multiplied by the 

total number of units required to determine the total cost of the in-lieu fee to the developer. 

This method relies on surveys of recent affordable housing projects with similar characteristics (e.g., 

land, construction, and other costs), so it helps to have nonprofit developers who are willing to share 

information on costs of construction and rents.18 For that reason, this method is better suited for 

jurisdictions with a robust nonprofit development community (MAPC 2018). Like the affordability gap 

method, it necessitates frequent updates to ensure that the fees are accurate. For example, the 

inclusionary zoning regulations in the Town of Chapel Hill, North Carolina, require the town council to 

annually establish the dollar amount of subsidy needed to make units affordable.19 



D E T E R M I N I N G  I N - L I E U  F E E S  I N  I N C L U S I O N A R Y  Z O N I N G  P O L I C I E S  7   
 

Indexed Fees Based on Project Characteristics 

Other jurisdictions set fees based on the density of the project, location of the project, or whether the 

project meets other local priorities. With these formulas, the in-lieu fee is the product of a square foot 

charge and the gross floor area. In contrast to other methods that set fees on a per unit basis, this 

method uses a per project calculation. Examples of jurisdictions that use this method are Arlington 

County, Virginia, and the City of San Diego. San Diego set its rate at $10.82 per square foot for 

developments with more than 10 units, and that rate is multiplied by the gross floor area of a project.20 

Arlington County has a similar formula, but the rates vary based on the density of the project (denser 

projects trigger higher in-lieu fees).21 

Regardless of the method, some jurisdictions vary in-lieu fees by neighborhood. Boston has three 

fee levels based on the average cost of housing in a neighborhood.22 In some jurisdictions, the in-lieu fee 

can be reduced if developers provide units to the public housing authority. The City of Chicago typically 

has a 10 percent requirement for on-site affordable units. If developers sell or lease at least 2.5 percent 

of the total on-site units (25 percent of required affordable units) to the Chicago Housing Authority, the 

in-lieu fees are reduced by $25,000 per remaining required unit.23 

No research has been conducted on which method of calculating in-lieu fees is more effective, in 

part because outcome measures vary across local contexts. For example, jurisdictions can define 

effectiveness in terms of affordable units built or dollars raised for affordable housing. The affordability 

gap method is probably the most commonly used because it is easier to understand conceptually and 

relies on more readily available data.24 The appendix provides basic examples of how to calculate in-lieu 

fees using each of the three methods. It also outlines how jurisdictions might compare their in-lieu 

formulas with those of their peers.  

Regardless of which methods jurisdictions use, they should tie the fee to regional consumer price 

indexes or other measures of economic conditions. By doing so, jurisdictions can help ensure that their 

fee structure adjusts for local markets, is predictable for developers, and remains consistent with 

overarching policy goals. 

Guidance for Jurisdictions Considering Inclusionary Zoning and In-Lieu Fees 

Effective inclusionary zoning policies must consider local development patterns, affordability needs, 

political feasibility, and local development capacity (MAPC 2018). Successful policies also incorporate 

the perspectives of all parties: city staff members, nonprofits, advocacy groups, residents, and 

developers. Below are some specific suggestions for communities to consider when creating or revising 

inclusionary zoning policies. 

ASSESS WHAT THE MARKET CAN BEAR 

Inclusionary zoning changes the cost of private development by using market-rate development to 

subsidize below-market units. Market dynamics are driven by income generated through rents or sales, 

construction costs, and the availability and price of land (Williams et al. 2016). If the market is not 



 8  D E T E R M I N I N G  I N - L I E U  F E E S  I N  I N C L U S I O N A R Y  Z O N I N G  P O L I C I E S  
 

robust, reducing rents or income received could prevent projects from penciling out. Therefore, testing 

what level of affordability (i.e., both percentage of units and level of AMI affordability for each unit) is 

feasible for the market to support and in which neighborhoods is important. One way to do this is to 

analyze how on-site or in-lieu requirements would have affected the financial calculations of recent 

development projects in the jurisdiction. These analyses can compare what percentage of affordable 

units recent developments could have incorporated and at what percentage of AMI. The results can 

guide policymakers’ decisions on how to set the requirements, whether to vary by neighborhood, and 

whether to allow a sliding scale between units and affordability (i.e., the option to provide more units at 

a lower per unit subsidy or fewer units at a higher per unit subsidy). 

ADJUST THE FEE TO ALIGN WITH LOCAL POLICY PRIORITIES 

When setting an in-lieu fee, jurisdictions should consider whether their top priority is to build more 

affordable housing generally, create flexible funding for affordable housing, or create mixed-income 

developments.25 The conventional wisdom is that in-lieu fees set below the cost to construct units on 

site will reduce the number of developers who will build on-site units. Jurisdictions should weigh the 

relative costs of compliance for developers and how the different costs would influence developers’ 

consideration of the available options. If building more affordable units or creating mixed-income 

developments is the most important policy goal, jurisdictions might want to set a higher in-lieu fee to 

prevent developers from buying out their obligations. 

CREATE AN EVIDENCE-BASED, INCLUSIVE, AND TRANSPARENT PROCESS TO BUILD 

CONSENSUS AND SECURE BUY-IN 

In some places, the political process can dilute policies by making them more favorable to developers or 

other local interests. To counteract this, government staff members and elected officials should 

collaborate with community members to shape inclusionary zoning policies. By doing so either through 

a task force or similar efforts, jurisdictions can ground their decisions in available evidence, local 

feasibility studies, and resident and stakeholder buy-in. 

CONSIDER POLITICAL CONTEXT 

Local political contexts necessarily affect inclusionary zoning policies. Jurisdictions can only go as far as 

their councils and state legislatures let them. Nine states have preempted local governments from 

enacting inclusionary zoning policies.26 Cities in states considering preemption might enact less 

stringent policies to avoid backlash that could prompt the state to remove the local authority to enact 

inclusionary zoning policies. 

REFLECT THE AVAILABILITY OF KEY RESOURCES 

Jurisdictions with other locally controlled and available financing sources can leverage in-lieu fees to 

produce affordable units. The ability to create such leverage depends on the capacity of local 

government staff members, as well as nonprofit and private partners such as community development 

financial institutions, who can identify opportunities and deploy other resources (Jacobus 2015). In 

addition, jurisdictions without much available land might prefer on-site units because they have 

relatively few opportunities to use in-lieu fees to build elsewhere.27 



D E T E R M I N I N G  I N - L I E U  F E E S  I N  I N C L U S I O N A R Y  Z O N I N G  P O L I C I E S  9   
 

ALIGN INCLUSIONARY ZONING WITH OTHER ZONING OR POLICY CHANGES 

Some jurisdictions have created inclusionary zoning policies as they rezoned neighborhoods. The logic 

behind this is that higher densities enable the production of more affordable units. As a result, 

inclusionary zoning captures the increased land values created by rezoning and ensures that the 

benefits accrue to a greater number of residents through the provision of affordable housing (Local 

Government Commission, Western Center on Law and Poverty, and California Rural Legal Assistance 

Foundation 2018).  

Conclusion 

Inclusionary zoning is one tool that local governments can use to increase the production of affordable 

housing units, especially in areas where they are not typically delivered. Based on discussions with local 

policymakers and a review of the available evidence, this brief probes one component of inclusionary 

zoning, alternative compliance via in-lieu fees. Jurisdictions face trade-offs when they allow developers 

to pay in-lieu fees instead of building on-site units. In-lieu fees, if they are not set at an appropriate level, 

can undermine jurisdictions’ affordable housing goals. To avoid potential negative outcomes, 

jurisdictions looking to create new inclusionary zoning policies and revise existing policies should 

carefully weigh factors like local market and political contexts, as well as feedback from nonprofit 

developers and residents. 

Appendix. Calculating In-Lieu Fees and Comparing across 

Jurisdictions 

Below are basic examples of how to calculate in-lieu fees using each of the three methods explained 

earlier in this brief (table 2). The results should not be interpreted as a value statement on a preferred 

method. Rather, they show how the calculations compare given our assumptions. For this example, the 

following are assumed: 

 The maximum housing expense affordable to a household making the area median income is 

$1,500 per month. 

 The project is a 100-unit rental development with an average unit size of 1,000 square feet. 

 The jurisdiction policy is that 10 percent of rental units must be affordable to those making 50 

percent of AMI. 

 The capitalization rate is 5 percent.  

 The cost to construct one unit of housing is $250,000. 

 Monthly operating expenses (e.g., owner-paid utilities, fire insurance, and trash removal) are 

$5,000 per unit per year.  



 1 0  D E T E R M I N I N G  I N - L I E U  F E E S  I N  I N C L U S I O N A R Y  Z O N I N G  P O L I C I E S  
 

TABLE 2 

Comparison of Sample Projects by Calculation Method 

Affordability gap method Production cost method 

Indexed based on project 
characteristics 

(using San Diego rate) 
 Rent loss per unit per month: 

$1,500 – $750 = $750 
 Rent loss per year: 

$750 x 12 = $9,000 
 Rent loss divided by 

capitalization rate: 
$9,000 / 0.05 = $180,000 

 In-lieu fee per unit = $180,000 

 Maximum housing expense per 
month: $750 

 Operating, administrative, and 
maintenance expenses: $5,000 
(annually); $417 (monthly) 

 Net operating income per 
month: 
$750 – $417 = $333 

 Net operating income per year: 
$333 x 12 = $3,996 

 Capitalized value: 
$3,996 / 0.05 = $79,920 

 In-lieu fee per unit: 
$250,000 – $79,920 = $170,080 

 Total square footage: 
100 units x 1,000 sq. ft. = 
100,000 sq. ft. 

 Square footage x fee rate: 
100,000 x $10.82 = $1,082,000 

 In-lieu fee per unit: 
$1,082,000 / 10 = $108,200 

In addition to calculating how in-lieu fees might differ depending on the formula selected, 

jurisdictions might find it useful to compare their in-lieu fees and formulas with those of other 

jurisdictions. To do this, a jurisdiction could first create a sample project (e.g., a 100-unit development 

that is 100 percent residential) and then calculate in-lieu fees based on publicly available information 

about other jurisdictions’ formulas. This would enable jurisdictions to get a sense of how the amount of 

in-lieu fees that result from a given project compares with amounts in peer jurisdictions. However, it is 

important to keep in mind that the dollar figures would reflect the jurisdictions’ basic formulas and no 

other factors, such as density bonuses, location considerations, and negotiated payments, that can 

influence in-lieu fees. 

Notes 
1  Ally Schweitzer, “Bowser Calls for More Affordable Units in New Housing Developments,” WAMU, January 3, 

2020, https://wamu.org/story/20/01/03/bowser-calls-for-more-affordable-units-in-new-housing-
developments/. 

2  “Inclusionary Zoning,” Local Housing Solutions, accessed November 14, 2019, 
https://www.localhousingsolutions.org/act/housing-policy-library/inclusionary-zoning-overview/inclusionary-
zoning/. 

3  “Inclusionary Zoning,” Local Housing Solutions. 

4  Benjamin Schneider, “CityLab University: Inclusionary Zoning,” July 17, 2018, 
https://www.citylab.com/equity/2018/07/citylab-university-inclusionary-zoning/565181/. 

5  Schneider, “CityLab University: Inclusionary Zoning.” 

6  “Setting the In-Lieu Fee,” Inclusionary Housing, accessed November 14, 2019, 
https://inclusionaryhousing.org/designing-a-policy/off-site-development/in-lieu-fees/setting-the-in-lieu-fee/. 

7  “Affordable Housing Opportunity Fund,” City of Chicago, accessed February 5, 2020, 
https://www.chicago.gov/city/en/depts/doh/provdrs/developers/svcs/ahof.html. 

 

 

https://wamu.org/story/20/01/03/bowser-calls-for-more-affordable-units-in-new-housing-developments/
https://wamu.org/story/20/01/03/bowser-calls-for-more-affordable-units-in-new-housing-developments/
https://www.localhousingsolutions.org/act/housing-policy-library/inclusionary-zoning-overview/inclusionary-zoning/
https://www.localhousingsolutions.org/act/housing-policy-library/inclusionary-zoning-overview/inclusionary-zoning/
https://www.localhousingsolutions.org/act/housing-policy-library/inclusionary-zoning-overview/inclusionary-zoning/
https://www.citylab.com/equity/2018/07/citylab-university-inclusionary-zoning/565181/
https://www.citylab.com/equity/2018/07/citylab-university-inclusionary-zoning/565181/
https://inclusionaryhousing.org/designing-a-policy/off-site-development/in-lieu-fees/setting-the-in-lieu-fee/
https://www.chicago.gov/city/en/depts/doh/provdrs/developers/svcs/ahof.html


D E T E R M I N I N G  I N - L I E U  F E E S  I N  I N C L U S I O N A R Y  Z O N I N G  P O L I C I E S  1 1   
 

 
8  “Inclusionary Zoning Policy,” City of Atlanta, accessed January 23, 2020, 

https://www.atlantaga.gov/government/departments/city-planning/office-of-housing-community-
development/inclusionary-zoning-policy. 

9  “National Longitudinal Land Use Survey,” Urban Institute Data Catalog, last modified February 23, 2020, 
https://datacatalog.urban.org/dataset/national-longitudinal-land-use-survey-nllus. 

10  “A Resolution Modifying the Guidelines of the Affordable Housing Fund,” Town of Chapel Hill, North Carolina, 
September 29, 2014, https://www.townofchapelhill.org/home/showdocument?id=28455. 

11  “Rental Subsidy Program,” Chicago Low-Income Housing Trust Fund, accessed November 14, 2019, 
http://www.clihtf.org/programs-and-initiatives/rental-subsidy-program/. 

12  “In-Lieu Fees,” Inclusionary Housing, accessed November 14, 2019, https://inclusionaryhousing.org/designing-a-
policy/off-site-development/in-lieu-fees/. 

13  Daniel Lauber, “How to Make Inclusionary Zoning Actually Inclusive,” Wednesday Journal, February 5, 2020, 
https://www.oakpark.com/News/Articles/2-5-2019/How-to-make-inclusionary-zoning-actually-inclusive/. 

14  See the technical appendix to Pamela Blumenthal, Reed Jordan, Amy Clark, Ethan Handelman, and Rebekah 
King, “The Cost of Affordable Housing: Does It Pencil Out?” July 2016, https://apps.urban.org/features/cost-of-
affordable-housing/; and “Implementing Affordable Housing Provisions of Station Subarea Plans: Fee-in-Lieu,” 
City Council agenda item, Planning and Community Development Department, City of Shoreline, Washington, 
July 24, 2017, 
http://cosweb.ci.shoreline.wa.us/uploads/attachments/cck/council/staffreports/2017/staffreport072417-
9a.pdf. 

15  See “Income and Rent Limits,” Arlington County, accessed November 14, 2019, 
https://housing.arlingtonva.us/income-rent-limits/. 

16  See “SFHP Administrative Procedures” on “Santa Fe Homes Program,” City of Santa Fe, accessed February 5, 
2020, https://www.santafenm.gov/santa_fe_homes_program; and “Appendix D, Inclusionary Housing 
Ordinance,” The City of Santa Barbara’s Affordable Housing Policies and Procedures, April 1, 2018, 
https://www.santabarbaraca.gov/civicax/filebank/blobdload.aspx?BlobID=170467. 

17  “Implementing Affordable Housing Provisions of Station Subarea Plans: Fee-in-Lieu,” City of Shoreline, 
Washington. 

18  “Implementing Affordable Housing Provisions of Station Subarea Plans: Fee-in-Lieu,” City of Shoreline, 
Washington. 

19  “An Ordinance Amending the Chapel Hill Land Use Management Ordinance to Establish Inclusionary Zoning 
Regulations for Residential Development,” Town of Chapel Hill, North Carolina, June 21, 2010, 
https://www.townofchapelhill.org/home/showdocument?id=6988. 

20  “Requirements for Inclusionary Affordable Housing,” Information Bulletin 532, City of San Diego Development 
Services Department, July 2018, https://www.sandiego.gov/sites/default/files/dsdib532.pdf. 

21  “Land Use and Zoning Tools,” Arlington County, accessed November 14, 2019, 
https://housing.arlingtonva.us/development/land-use-zoning-tools/. 

22  “Setting the In-Lieu Fee,” Inclusionary Housing. 

23  “2015 Affordable Requirements Ordinance Rules & Regulations,” City of Chicago Department of Planning and 
Development, updated May 1, 2017, 
https://www.chicago.gov/content/dam/city/depts/dcd/general/housing/ARO_Rules_5-1-17.pdf. 

24  “Implementing Affordable Housing Provisions of Station Subarea Plans: Fee-in-Lieu,” City of Shoreline, 
Washington. 

25  “Setting the In-Lieu Fee,” Inclusionary Housing. 

26  As of early 2019. See “State Preemption of Local Equitable Housing Policies,” Local Solutions Support Center, 
accessed January 23, 2020, http://www.supportdemocracy.org/equitablehousing/. 

27  “Setting the In-Lieu Fee,” Inclusionary Housing. 

https://www.atlantaga.gov/government/departments/city-planning/office-of-housing-community-development/inclusionary-zoning-policy
https://www.atlantaga.gov/government/departments/city-planning/office-of-housing-community-development/inclusionary-zoning-policy
https://www.townofchapelhill.org/home/showdocument?id=28455
http://www.clihtf.org/programs-and-initiatives/rental-subsidy-program/
https://inclusionaryhousing.org/designing-a-policy/off-site-development/in-lieu-fees/
https://inclusionaryhousing.org/designing-a-policy/off-site-development/in-lieu-fees/
https://www.oakpark.com/News/Articles/2-5-2019/How-to-make-inclusionary-zoning-actually-inclusive/
https://apps.urban.org/features/cost-of-affordable-housing/cost-of-affordable-housing_technical-appendix.pdf
https://apps.urban.org/features/cost-of-affordable-housing/
https://apps.urban.org/features/cost-of-affordable-housing/
http://cosweb.ci.shoreline.wa.us/uploads/attachments/cck/council/staffreports/2017/staffreport072417-9a.pdf
http://cosweb.ci.shoreline.wa.us/uploads/attachments/cck/council/staffreports/2017/staffreport072417-9a.pdf
https://housing.arlingtonva.us/income-rent-limits/
https://www.santafenm.gov/santa_fe_homes_program
http://cosweb.ci.shoreline.wa.us/uploads/attachments/cck/council/staffreports/2017/staffreport072417-9a.pdf
http://cosweb.ci.shoreline.wa.us/uploads/attachments/cck/council/staffreports/2017/staffreport072417-9a.pdf
https://www.townofchapelhill.org/home/showdocument?id=6988
https://www.sandiego.gov/sites/default/files/dsdib532.pdf
https://housing.arlingtonva.us/development/land-use-zoning-tools/
https://inclusionaryhousing.org/designing-a-policy/off-site-development/in-lieu-fees/setting-the-in-lieu-fee/
http://cosweb.ci.shoreline.wa.us/uploads/attachments/cck/council/staffreports/2017/staffreport072417-9a.pdf
https://inclusionaryhousing.org/designing-a-policy/off-site-development/in-lieu-fees/setting-the-in-lieu-fee/
http://www.supportdemocracy.org/equitablehousing/
https://inclusionaryhousing.org/designing-a-policy/off-site-development/in-lieu-fees/setting-the-in-lieu-fee/


 1 2  D E T E R M I N I N G  I N - L I E U  F E E S  I N  I N C L U S I O N A R Y  Z O N I N G  P O L I C I E S  
 

References 
Arlington County, Virginia. 2015. Affordable Housing Implementation Framework. Arlington, VA: Arlington County. 

Brennan, Maya, and Solomon Greene. 2018. “Why Isn’t There Enough Affordable Housing for the Families Who 
Need It Most?” Washington, DC: Urban Institute. 

California Coalition for Rural Housing and the Non-Profit Housing Association of Northern California. 2004. 
“Inclusionary Housing in California: 30 Years of Innovation.” NHC Affordable Housing Policy Review 3 (1): 9–31. 

Chetty, Raj, Nathaniel Hendren, and Lawrence F. Katz. 2015. “The Effects of Exposure to Better Neighborhoods on 
Children: New Evidence from the Moving to Opportunity Project.” American Economic Review 106 (4). 

David Paul Rosen & Associates. 2018. Pasadena Affordable Housing In Lieu Fee Analysis. Pasadena, CA: City of 
Pasadena. 

HR&A Advisors. 2019. New Orleans Inclusionary Housing Study. New Orleans: City of New Orleans. 

Jacobus, Rick. 2015. Inclusionary Housing: Creating and Maintaining Equitable Communities. Cambridge, MA: Lincoln 
Institute of Land Policy. 

Local Government Commission, Western Center on Law and Poverty, and California Rural Legal Assistance 
Foundation. 2018. Meeting California’s Housing Needs: Best Practices for Inclusionary Housing. Sacramento, CA: 
Local Government Commission. 

MAPC (Metropolitan Area Planning Council). 2018. Inclusionary Zoning + Payment in Lieu of Units Analysis. Boston: 
MAPC. 

Porter, Douglas R., and Elizabeth B. Davison. 2009. “Evaluation of In-Lieu Fees and Offsite Construction as 
Incentives for Affordable Housing Production.” Cityscape 11 (2): 27–60. 

Ramakrishnan, Kriti, Mark Treskon, and Solomon Greene. 2019. “Inclusionary Zoning: What Does the Research Tell 
Us about the Effectiveness of Local Action?” Washington, DC: Urban Institute. 

Schuetz, Jenny, Rachel Meltzer, and Vicki Been. 2008. “The Effects of Inclusionary Zoning on Local Housing 
Markets: Lessons from the San Francisco, Washington DC and Suburban Boston areas.” New York: New York 
University, Furman Center for Real Estate and Urban Policy. 

Thaden, Emily, and Ruoniu Wang. 2017. “Inclusionary Housing in the United States: Prevalence, Impact, and 
Practices.” Working Paper WP17ET1. Cambridge, MA: Lincoln Institute of Land Policy. 

Turner, Margery Austin, and Ruth Gourevitch. 2017. “How Neighborhoods Affect the Social and Economic Mobility 
of Their Residents.” Washington, DC: Urban Institute. 

Williams, Stockton, Ian Carlton, Lorelei Juntunen, Emily Picha, and Mike Wilkerson. 2016. The Economics of 
Inclusionary Development. Washington, DC: Urban Land Institute. 

About the Author 

Aaron Shroyer is a policy associate with the Research to Action Lab at the Urban Institute. His project 

work involves advising foundations and local governments on policy and grantmaking strategies around 

the issues of housing and community development. His projects have included developing policy 

solutions that increase housing affordability and supporting local initiatives aimed at creating inclusive 

economies. Before joining Urban, Shroyer was a management fellow for the City of Kansas City, 

Missouri, focusing on projects related to economic development, housing and neighborhood 

development, sustainability, and performance management. Before that, he was a summer mayoral 

https://arlingtonva.s3.dualstack.us-east-1.amazonaws.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/15/2015/09/Implementation-Framework.pdf
https://www.mobilitypartnership.org/publications/why-isn%E2%80%99t-there-enough-affordable-housing-families-who-need-it-most
https://www.mobilitypartnership.org/publications/why-isn%E2%80%99t-there-enough-affordable-housing-families-who-need-it-most
https://www.nhc.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/IZ_CA_experiencet.pdf
https://scholar.harvard.edu/hendren/publications/effects-exposure-better-neighborhoods-children-new-evidence-moving-opportunity
https://scholar.harvard.edu/hendren/publications/effects-exposure-better-neighborhoods-children-new-evidence-moving-opportunity
https://ww5.cityofpasadena.net/housing/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2016/03/Pasadena_R_In-Lieu-Fee-Study_081318.pdf
https://www.nola.gov/nola/media/City-Planning/New-Orleans-Inclusionary-Housing-Study-Final-Report_3-11-19_2.pdf
https://www.lincolninst.edu/sites/default/files/pubfiles/inclusionary-housing-full_0.pdf
https://wclp.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/inclusionary-factsheet_v2.pdf
https://www.rhsohousing.org/sites/concordrhso/files/uploads/final_report_-_rhso_07.18.18.pdf
https://www.huduser.gov/periodicals/cityscpe/vol11num2/ch2.pdf
https://www.huduser.gov/periodicals/cityscpe/vol11num2/ch2.pdf
https://www.urban.org/research/publication/inclusionary-zoning-what-does-research-tell-us-about-effectiveness-local-action
https://www.urban.org/research/publication/inclusionary-zoning-what-does-research-tell-us-about-effectiveness-local-action
https://furmancenter.org/files/publications/IZPolicyBrief.pdf
https://furmancenter.org/files/publications/IZPolicyBrief.pdf
https://www.lincolninst.edu/sites/default/files/pubfiles/thaden_wp17et1_0.pdf
https://www.lincolninst.edu/sites/default/files/pubfiles/thaden_wp17et1_0.pdf
https://www.mobilitypartnership.org/publications/how-neighborhoods-affect-social-and-economic-mobility-their-residents
https://www.mobilitypartnership.org/publications/how-neighborhoods-affect-social-and-economic-mobility-their-residents
https://uli.org/wp-content/uploads/ULI-Documents/Economics-of-Inclusionary-Zoning.pdf
https://uli.org/wp-content/uploads/ULI-Documents/Economics-of-Inclusionary-Zoning.pdf


D E T E R M I N I N G  I N - L I E U  F E E S  I N  I N C L U S I O N A R Y  Z O N I N G  P O L I C I E S  1 3   
 

fellow within Mayor Rahm Emanuel’s office in Chicago. Shroyer has a bachelor’s degree in government 

and a master’s degree in leadership and public policy, both from the University of Virginia. 

Acknowledgments 

This brief was funded by the Kresge Foundation through the Shared Prosperity Partnership. The Shared 

Prosperity Partnership—a collaboration of the Kresge Foundation, the Brookings Metropolitan Policy 

Program, the Urban Institute, and Living Cities—convenes local leaders in select communities across the 

United States to discuss challenges to inclusive growth and provide data, research, and access to 

national experts, networks, and financial resources. Nationally, the partnership elevates promising 

models through publications and public forums to spark dialogue among practitioners and support 

evidence-based policy at the state and national levels. We are grateful to them and to all our funders, 

who make it possible for Urban to advance its mission.  

The views expressed are those of the author and should not be attributed to the Urban Institute, its 

trustees, or its funders. Funders do not determine research findings or the insights and 

recommendations of Urban experts. Further information on the Urban Institute’s funding principles is 

available at urban.org/fundingprinciples. 

This report would not be possible without the generosity of time and information provided by the 

interviewees. These interviews provided firsthand insights into the considerations that local 

governments make when setting in-lieu fees and are the foundation for this report. These interviewees 

include Nate Broman-Fulks and Loryn Clark, Town of Chapel Hill, North Carolina; Robert Dowling, 

formerly of Community Home Trust; Melissa Danowski, Arlington County, Virginia; Stacie Young, the 

Preservation Compact; and Daniel Kay Hertz, City of Chicago. I would also like to thank my colleagues 

Solomon Greene, Martha Galvez, Marcela Montes, and Emily Bramhall, as well as Michelle McDonough 

Winters of the Alliance for Housing Solutions, for their helpful insights throughout the research and 

writing process. 

ABOUT THE URBAN INST ITUTE 
The nonprofit Urban Institute is a leading research organization dedicated to 
developing evidence-based insights that improve people’s lives and strengthen 
communities. For 50 years, Urban has been the trusted source for rigorous analysis 
of complex social and economic issues; strategic advice to policymakers, 
philanthropists, and practitioners; and new, promising ideas that expand 
opportunities for all. Our work inspires effective decisions that advance fairness and 
enhance the well-being of people and places. 

Copyright © May 2020. Urban Institute. Permission is granted for reproduction of 
this file, with attribution to the Urban Institute.  

500 L’Enfant Plaza SW 
Washington, DC 20024 

www.urban.org 

http://www.urban.org/fundingprinciples

	CITY COUNCIL AGENDA - MARCH 3, 2025
	City Council Agenda - March 3, 2025

	ACCEPTANCE OF MINUTES
	January 21, 2025
	February 3, 2025

	PUBLIC HEARINGS & VOTE ON ORDINANCES AND/OR RESOLUTIONS
	Public Hearing/Second Reading of Ordinance Amendment for 185 Orchard Street - Historic District Overlay
	Public Hearing/Second Reading of Ordinance Amendment - Sustainability Committee

	THIRD AND FINAL READING OF ORDINANCE
	Third & Final Reading of Ordinance for Adoption of Fees 

	CITY MANAGER'S ITEMS WHICH REQUIRE ACTION
	Request to Restore Involuntarily Merged Lots at 25 Sims Avenue
	License Extension for 50 South School Street

	CONSENT AGENDA
	Portsouth Girls Softball Association request to hang banners at Tony Rahn Fields
	Marathon Sports request to hold Portsmouth 5K
	Seacoast Lacrosse Club request to place temporary signage at Portsmouth Recreation Athletic Field
	Leukemia & Lymphoma Society request to hold the annual Light The Night (LTN)
	NH Water Pollution Control Association request to hold a 5K Race at Pease
	Gundalow Company request to conduct the 2025 Round Isand Regatta

	PRESENTATIONS & WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS
	Email Correspondence

	CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS
	COUNCILOR TABOR
	Fee Committee Report
	Housng Committee Recommendation - Payment in Lieu Schedule




